
CHEHALIS CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 
CITY HALL 

350 N MARKET BLVD | CHEHALIS, WA   98532 

Anthony E. Ketchum, Sr., District 3 
Mayor 

Vacant, District 1 
Daryl J. Lund, District 2 
Dr. Isaac S. Pope, District 4      

Kate McDougall, Position at Large No. 1 
Kevin Carns, Position at Large No. 2 

Robert J. Spahr, Mayor Pro Tem, Position at Large No. 3 

Farewell Reception for Outgoing Councilor Dr. Pope Monday, December 11, 20223 
4:00 p.m. 

Regular Meeting of Monday, December 11, 2023 
5:00 p.m. 

To access this meeting via Zoom: 
Meeting ID: 834 4212 6653 

Pass Code: 674890 

1. Call to Order (Mayor Ketchum)

2. Pledge of Allegiance (Mayor Ketchum)

3. Approval of Agenda (Mayor Ketchum)

PRESENTATIONS/PROCLAMATIONS 

4. Employee Introductions

5. Recognition of Councilor Pope for 36 Years of Service on the City Council

6. Experience Chehalis Update (Annalee Tobey)

7. Chehalis Basin Lead Entity and Lewis County Stream Team Update (Kristen Harma, Bob Russell, Kenna
Foscnact) 

 CONSENT CALENDAR ADMINISTRATION 
RECOMMENDATION PAGE

8. Minutes of the Regular Meeting November 27, 2023 (City Clerk)

9. Vouchers and Transfers- Accounts Payable in the Amount of $1,396,166.75
(Finance Director)

10. Vouchers and Transfers-Payroll in the Amount of $899,305.68 (Finance Director)

11. Consider Cancellation of December 25th Regular City Council Meeting (City Clerk)

12. Contract Award-John Deere Financial- Sourcewell Ground Maintenance Contract
#031121-DAC (Facilities Manager)

13. Tyler Technologies Contract for Financial Software System (Finance Director)

14. Budgeted Purchase of Fuel for Resale (Airport Director)

APPROVE 

APPROVE 

APPROVE 

APPROVE 

APPROVE 

APPROVE 

APPROVE 

1 

5 

7 

9 

11 

16 

61 



   UNFINISHED BUSINESS ADMINISTRATION 
RECOMMENDATION PAGE

15. Second Reading of Ordinance No. 1077-B, Utility Tax (Finance Director)

16. Resolution No. 20-2023, Declaring Real Property of the City of Chehalis to be
Surplus to Certain Enterprise Funds, and Directing the Transfer Thereof to the
Airport Fund (Airport Director) 

APPROVE 

APPROVE 

63 

71 

 NEW BUSINESS ADMINISTRATION 
RECOMMENDATION PAGE

17. First Reading of Ordinance No. 1086, Amending Chehalis Municipal Code Chapter
12.04 Engineering Development Code (Public Works Director)

APPROVE 97 

  ADMINISTRATION AND CITY COUNCIL REPORTS  ADMINISTRATION 
RECOMMENDATION PAGE 

Administration Reports 

• City Manager Update

Councilor Reports/Committee Updates (City Council) 

INFORMATION 
ONLY  

EXECUTIVE SESSION 

Pursuant to RCW 

• 42.30.110(1)(c) -Sale/Lease of Real Estate

THE CITY COUNCIL MAY ADD AND TAKE ACTION ON OTHER ITEMS NOT LISTED ON THIS AGENDA. 

NEXT REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETINGS 
MONDAY, JANUARY 8, 2024- 5:00 P.M. 
MONDAY, JANUARY 22, 2024- 5:00 P.M.  

NEXT SPECIAL CITY COUNCIL MEETINGS  
THURSDAY, JANUARY 18, 2024- 5:00 P.M. 

 PUBLIC HEARINGS ADMINISTRATION 
RECOMMENDATION PAGE

There are no public hearings scheduled. 

CITIZENS BUSINESS (PUBLIC COMMENT) 

Individuals wishing to provide public comments in general and on agenda items should submit comments by 4:00 
pm on the day of the meeting. All comments received will be acknowledged by the Mayor under Citizens Business of 
this meeting agenda.  Please use the following form to submit comments – https://www.ci.chehalis.wa.us/contact.  
If you do not have computer access or would prefer to submit a comment verbally, please contact City Clerk Kassi 
Mackie at 360-345-1042 or at kmackie@ci.chehalis.wa.us.  Public comments will be limited to five (5) minutes per 
person. 

https://www.ci.chehalis.wa.us/contact
mailto:kmackie@ci.chehalis.wa.us


Chehalis City Council 
Regular Meeting Minutes 

November 27, 2023 
5:00 p.m. 

Council Present: Mayor Ketchum, Mayor Pro-Tem Spahr, Councilor Lund, Councilor McDougall, 
Councilor Carns, and Councilor Pope 

Council Absent: None 

Staff Present: Jill Anderson, City Manager; Kassi Mackie, City Clerk; Kevin Nelson, City Attorney; Daniel 
Murray, City Attorney; Glenn Schaffer, HR/Risk Manager; Lance Bunker, Public Works Director; 
Fritz Bierle, Streets Superintendent; Cassie Frazier, Airport Administrative Assistant; Chun Saul, 
Financial Director; Adam Fulbright, Fire Chief; Randy Kaut, Police Chief; Sally Saxton, Financial 
Analyst; Lilly Wall, Recreation Director; Andrew Hunziker, Facilities Manager 

Press Present: Owen Sexton, The Chronicle 

1. Call to Order:
Mayor Ketchum called the meeting to order at 5:00 p.m.

2. Pledge of Allegiance
Mayor Pro Tem Spahr led the flag salute.

3. Approval of Agenda
Item #15 was removed from the agenda.

A motion was made by Mayor Pro Tem Spahr, seconded by Councilor Pope, to approve the agenda
as amended. Motion carried unanimously.

PRESENTATIONS 

4. Swearing in of Newly Appointed Officers (Police Chief)
Police Chief Randy Kaut administered the oath of office to officers Brady Hinds and Derek Beairsto.

5. Parks and Facilities Update (Facilities Manager)
Lilly Wall, Recreation Director and Andrew Hunziker, Facilities Manager presented.

6. Employee Introductions
Facilities Manager Andrew Hunziker introduced Ryan Chaney, Todd Harris, Kelly Roberts, Robbie San
Souci and Scott Hildahl of the Facilities Department.

Streets Superintendent Fritz Bierle introduced Mark Gernlein, Rick Pennington, Jared Dobyns and
Kraig Osborne of the Streets Department.

CONSENT CALENDAR 

7. Minutes of the Regular City Council Meeting of November 13, 2023 (City Clerk)

1



 
8. Vouchers and Transfers- Accounts Payable in the Amount of $393,526.50 (Finance Director) 
 
9. Correction of Previously Approved Surplus Resolution (City Clerk) 
 

A motion was duly made and passed approving the items on the Consent Calendar as though acted 
on individually.  

 
PUBLIC HEARINGS 

 
10. 2024 Preliminary Budget and Revenue Sources (Finance Director) 

 
Mayor Ketchum opened the public hearing at 5:36 p.m. 
There being no one wishing to provide public comment, Mayor Ketchum closed the public hearing 
at 5:37 p.m. 

 
11. Resolution No. 20-2023, Declaring Real Property of the City of Chehalis to be Surplus to Certain 

Enterprise Funds, and Directing the Transfer Thereof to the Airport Fund (Airport Director) 
 

Mayor Ketchum opened the public hearing at 5:38 p.m. 
There being no one wishing to provide public comment, Mayor Ketchum closed the public hearing 
at 5:44 p.m. 

 
CITIZENS BUSINESS 
None. 
   
UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
 
12. Second Reading of Ordinance No. 1081-B, Setting the 2024 Levy Amount and Second Reading of 

Ordinance No. 1082-B, Stating Levy Amont Changes from 2023 Levy (Finance Director) 
 
A motion was made by Mayor Pro Tem Spahr, seconded by Councilor Pope to adopt Ordinance No. 
1081-B and 1082-B on second reading.  The motion was carried with Councilor Lund and Councilor 
Carns opposing.  

13. First Reading of Ordinance No. 1080-B, Fiscal Year 2024 Budget (Finance Director) 
 
A motion was made by Mayor Pro Tem Spahr, seconded by Councilor McDougall to adopt 
Ordinance No. 1080-B on second reading.  The motion was carried with Councilor Lund and 
Councilor Carns opposing. 

 
NEW BUSINESS 
 
14. First Reading of Ordinance No. 1077-B, Utility Tax (Finance Director) 

Finance Director Chun Saul presented.  
 
A motion was made by Mayor Pro Tem Spahr, seconded by Councilor McDougall to approve 
Ordinance No. 1077-B. The motion was carried with Councilor Lund and Councilor Carns opposing.  

2



15. Resolution No. 20-2023, Declaring Real Property of the City of Chehalis to be Surplus to Certain 
Enterprise Funds, and Directing the Transfer Thereof to the Airport Fund (Airport Director) 
 

16. City Manager Executive Search Firm Proposals (HR/Risk Manager) 

A motion was made by Councilor Carns, seconded by Councilor Lund to award the Executive Search 
Project to Prothman. The motion carried unanimously. 

ADMINISTRATION AND CITY COUNCIL REPORTS 

City Manager Update 
 

Councilor Reports/Committee Updates 
 

 
ADJOURNMENT  
 

Mayor Ketchum adjourned the meeting at 6:50 p.m. 
 
_______________________________ 
Anthony Ketchum, Sr., Mayor 
 
_______________________________ 
Attest: Kassi Mackie, City Clerk 

3



4



CHEHALIS CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
AGENDA REPORT 

TO: The Honorable Mayor and City Council 

FROM: Jill Anderson, City Manager 

BY: Chun Saul, Finance Director  
Clare Roberts, Accounting Tech III 

MEETING OF: December 11, 2023 

SUBJECT: 2023 Vouchers and Transfers – Accounts Payable in the Amount of 
$1,396,166.75. 

ISSUE 

City Council approval is requested for 2023 Vouchers and Transfers dated November 30, 2023. 

DISCUSSION 

The November 30, 2023 Claim Vouchers have been reviewed by a committee of three councilors 
prior to the release of payments.  The administration is requesting City Council approval for Claim 
Vouchers including Electronic Funds Transfer Checks No. 3281 - 3315, 131 - 134  and Voucher 
Checks No. 137855 - 137956 in the amount of $1,396,345.99 dated November 30, 2023, and 
Voided Check No. 137803 for the net total of $1,396,166.75 as follows: 

• $ 120,450.30 from the General Fund
• $ 24,705.50 from the Street Fund
• $ 1,491.23 from the Transportation Benefit District Fund
• $ 2,149.30  from the LEOFF 1 OPEB Reserve Fund
• $ 92,187.50 from the G.O. Bond Fund
• $ 49,661.25 from the Automotive Equipment Reserve Fund
• $ 60,424.36 from the Park Improvement Fund
• $ 869,013.68 from the Wastewater Fund
• $ 106,907.15 from the Water Fund
• $ 7,784.69 from the Storm & Surface Water Utility Fund
• $ 6,332.06 from the Airport Fund
• $ 910.22 from the Wastewater Capital Fund

5



• $ 50,387.96 from the Water Capital Fund 
• $ 21.76 from the Stormwater Capital Fund 
• $ 3,919.03 from the Custodial Other Agency Fund 
• $ 1,396,345.99 Total Vouchers for November 30, 2023 
• $<179.24> Voided Check for November 21, 2023 
• $ 1,396,166.75 Net Total Transfers 

 
 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
 

It is recommended that the City Council approve the Claim Vouchers including Electronic Funds 
Transfer Checks No. 3281 - 3315, 131 - 134  and Voucher Checks No. 137855 - 137956 in the 
amount of $1,396,345.99 dated November 30, 2023, and Voided Check No. 137803 for the net 
total of $1,396,166.75. 
 
 
SUGGESTED MOTION 
 
I move that the City Council approve the Claim Vouchers including Electronic Funds Transfer 
Checks No. 3281 - 3315, 131 - 134  and Voucher Checks No. 137855 - 137956 in the amount of 
$1,396,345.99 dated November 30, 2023, and Voided Check No. 137803 for the net total of 
$1,396,166.75. 
 

6



7



8



CHEHALIS CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
AGENDA REPORT 

TO:  The Honorable Mayor and City Council 

FROM:  Jill Anderson, City Manager 

BY: Kassi Mackie, City Clerk 

MEETING OF: December 11, 2023 

SUBJECT: Consider Cancelation of December 25th Council Meeting 

ISSUE 

It is proposed that the City Council cancel the second meeting in December consistent with its tradition. 

DISCUSSION 

The City Council has historically cancelled the second meeting in December, which falls on Christmas 
Day in 2023.  In recognition of the City’s tradition and the likelihood that most of the community will be 
focused on family and holiday festivities during that week, the City Council is being asked to cancel the 
second meeting, which if not cancelled would be moved to December 26th.  

Should the need for action on a matter arise between the meeting the City Council meeting on 
December 11th and the meeting on January 8th, the City Council can convene a special meeting with 24-
hour notice to the public.  

FISCAL IMPACT 

There is no fiscal impact associated with the proposed meeting cancellation.   

RECOMMENDATION 

It is recommended that the City Council cancel the December 25, 2023, City Council meeting. 

SUGGESTED MOTION 

I move that the City Council cancel the December 25, 2023, City Council meeting. 

9



10



CHEHALIS CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
AGENDA REPORT 

TO:  The Honorable Mayor and City Council 

FROM:  Jill Anderson, City Manager 

BY:  Andrew Hunziker, Parks, and Facilities Manager 

MEETING OF: December 11, 2023 

SUBJECT:  Contract Award – John Deere Financial- Contract #031121-DAC 

ISSUE 

Stan Hedwall Park has approximately 80 acres of grass requiring regular maintenance. Normally 
mowing each week takes 2 staff members 4 days. The wide area mower will allow staff to mow 
the park faster and more often with one staff member instead of two. This item is included in 
the 2023 budget, and it is requested that the City Council authorize execution of the lease to 
purchase the mower. 

DISCUSSION 

The purchase of one wide area mower was approved in the 2023 Budget. The John Deere Wide Area 
Mower will provide staff with a mower that is larger and more efficient. The Staff would like to purchase 
one John Deere 1600 Wide Area Mower (WAM) through Sourcewell Contract #031121-DAC, with 
financing the purchase over 5-year term, through John Deere Credit Inc.  

The cash price of this equipment from John Deere Financial through the Sourcewell contact #031121-
DAC is $77,023.67 (including sales tax).  However, due to the budget constraints, the staff had proposed 
purchasing a new mower on an installment (financed) purchase arrangement. The anticipated first 
annual installment payment was approved in the 2023 Budget.  

It is requested that the City Council authorize the purchase of one John Deere 1600 Wide Area Mower 
(WAM) to John Deere Financial. This contract will be in the form of an installment purchase agreement 
for five annual payments of $17,684.18 for a total of $88,420.90. The annual payments include sales tax 
and the accrued interest at 7.15%. Total interest cost over the five-year financing term is $10,498.34. At 
the end of the five-year lease, the City can choose to purchase the mower for $1.00.  

This mower will be added to the Parks and Facilities fleet of mowers to be used primarily at Stan 
Hedwall Park.  

Key Terms 
• Equipment Contract Price: $77,023.67, including taxes, freight, setup, and delivery.
• 5-year annual installment payment agreement.
• Total financing Interest (7.15%) cost: $10,498.34.
• Total cost: $88,420.90.
• At the end of the lease term, the City may purchase the equipment at $1.00.
• Delivery is expected within 15 days of the first payment.

11



Competitive Bidding: The City has a cooperative purchasing agreement with Sourcewell and is procuring 
the equipment through Sourcewell contract #031121-DAC. 

 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
 
The City’s total budget obligation over five-year installment purchase contract term is $88,420.90 with 
five annual installment payments of $17,684.18 which is the budget of the General Fund, Parks & 
Facilities department.  
 

Dealership/ Pape Machinery/John Deere Financial 
Equipment Price $77,023.67 including Tax 
Total Financing Interest cost  $10,533.30 
Total Purchase Cost $88.420.90 
Payment Schedule  
(5 Annual Payments) 
 
 
 
 
 

2023-$17,684.18 
2024-$17,684.18 
2025-$17,684.18 
2026-$17,684.18 
2027-$17,684.18 
 

BARS # (Principal) 001.F2.594.018.71.01 
BARS # (Interest) 001.F2.594.018.81.00 
Budget Amendment Required? 
 

No. The annual installment purchase is included in the 2023 
Budget. 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
  
It is recommended that the City Council authorize the City Manager to award Contract #031121-DAC to 
John Deere Financial for one John Deere 1600 Wide Area Mower (WAM) in the amount of $77,023.67 
and a five-year installment purchase agreement for total of $88,420.90 including equipment price and 
financing interest and authorize the City Manager to execute any related documents.  
 
SUGGESTED MOTION 
 
I move that the City Council authorizes the City Manager to award Contract #031121-DAC to John Deere 
Financial for one John Deere 1600 Wide Area Mower (WAM) in the amount of $77,023.67 and a five-
year installment purchase agreement for total of $88,490.90 including equipment price and financing 
interest and authorize the City Manager to execute any related documents. 
 
 
 
 

12



13



14



15



CHEHALIS CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
AGENDA REPORT 

 
 
TO:    The Honorable Mayor and City Council 
 
FROM:   Jill Anderson, City Manager 
     
BY:    Chun Saul, Finance Director 
     
MEETING OF:  December 11 2023 
 
SUBJECT:   Financial Software: Tyler Technologies SaaS Agreement   
 
 
DISCUSSION 
 
Contract with Tyler Technologies, Inc. for financial software migration and related services.  
 
BACKGROUND 
 
The City currently uses Eden, a product of Tyler Technologies, Inc., as its financial accounting software 
system. The City has used Eden for over 20 years for general accounting, budgeting, accounts payable, 
payroll, and project accounting. This software system is outdated, and Tyler Technologies will be 
discontinuing the support and maintenance of the software whin 3-years, with the sunset date of 
3/1/2027.  
 
The Finance Department begun their research to replace the Eden system in 2022 with an Enterprise 
Resources Planning (ERP) solution with newer technology and added modules and functionalities to 
enhance productivity and efficiency. An ERP solution is the core system which supports the whole city. 
These include: financial management;  human resources;  revenue management; permitting and licensing; 
inventory; customer request management; and civic service, etc. ERP solutions integrate all these 
functions into a single system. The City is also considering a Software-as-a-Service (SaaS) solution in which 
the ERP is hosted centrally with the vendor and licensed on a subscription basis. This solution saves the 
City money with hardware, staffing, and support. 
 
Tyler Technologies has offered to migrate its’ Eden clients to their other Enterprise Resource Planning 
(ERP) solutions with equivalent module licenses, without charging their standard software licensing fees. 
 
The Finance Department staff have researched the available software options and interviewed peers from 
other cities who have migrated from Tyler Eden to Tyler Munis, which is an equivalent product of Tyler 
Technology with added functionalities, and received very positive feedback on the product, as well as 
excellent customer support services. Tyler Munis is an ERP solution and includes financial management 
(general ledger, budgeting, contract management, purchasing, project & grant accounting), revenue 
management (accounts receivable, utility billing, cashiering, etc.), civic services (citizen self-service), 
permitting and licensing, citizen self-service for community development, GIS etc.), human resources and 
payroll, and document management, etc. 
 
 

16



As of May 2023, 85 of the 205 Tyler Technology Eden customers have migrated to Tyler Munis, and 2 have 
selected other products. Tyler Technologies, Inc. has 98% retention rate. Tyler Technologies Inc. also has 
a dedicated team of implementation staff focused solely on Eden migrations to increase implementation 
efficiencies, productivity in conversion, training, and set-up for the migrating clients.  
 
The Finance staff have viewed two-days of detailed demonstrations of Tyler Munis product and 
determined that migrating Eden to Tyler Munis is the best available and most advantageous option to the 
City. The staff would like to recommend entering into a Software as a Services (SaaS) contract with Tyler 
Technologies, Inc for Munis.  
 
Expected benefits of the new software with additional modules includes: 

• Cash receipting module – eliminate manual and duplicate data entry 
• General Billing - Consolidate and streamline general billing for receivables 
• Payroll with Employee Self Service - Electronic timekeeping – no more paper timesheets 
• Purchasing system –Provide real time budget status upon entering a purchase requestion and 

reduce manual and duplicate data entry 
• Electronic approvals 
• Improved reporting ability 
• Easier and user friendlier budget preparation 
• Content Manager - Electronically store invoices and documentation 
• Capital Assets – improve asset tracking and inventory 
• With SaaS, applications live on software providers’ servers. That frees users from licensing and 

hardware limitations, as well as maintenance responsibilities, which means cost savings over time. 
 
Replacing the Eden system will be a process that will take a significant amount of staff time, labor, and 
money.  Due to budget and staff capacity limitations, we are focusing on the core financial management 
suits (includes accounting, accounts payable, budgeting, contract management, capital assets, project & 
grant accounting, and purchasing), human resources and payroll, receivable and general billing, and 
content manager, with the Utility Billing module as an option that the City can add to the contract at a 
later time. The City’s utility billing staff are interested in reviewing this software and a detailed software 
demonstration is scheduled on December 21st.  If the utility billing department staff are on board with 
Munis, the Utility Billing module can be added to the contract once the budget for the utility billing system 
migration is secured (possibly in 2025) at the current contract pricing rate. 
 
STATUTORY CONTRACTING REQUIREMENTS 
 
The proposed contract with Tyler Technologies Inc. is a Software as a Service (SaaS) and related services.  
 
RCW 39.04.270 allows municipalities to acquire electronic data processing or telecommunications 
equipment, software, or services through competitive negotiation instead of the normal competitive 
bidding requirements. The competitive negotiation process requires an RFP and awarding the contract to 
“most advantageous” to the agency with price and other factors considered.  
 
RCW 39.34.030 allows the city to join with other governmental agencies for the purchase of supplies, 
equipment, or services. This is done by entering into a written Intergovernmental Cooperative Purchasing 
Agreement (also known as an “interlocal agreement” or “piggybacking”).  
 

17



Those cities who have migrated their Eden to Tyler Munis have chosen one of the three following 
procurement methods: 
 

• Consider an upgrade of existing software and related services.  No competitive negotiation 
process. (City of Wenatchee) 

• Went with a full RFP process (Cities of Tumwater and Oak Harbor) and chose Tyler Munis 
• Piggybacking on Intergovernmental Cooperative Purchasing Agreement. (City of Camas) 

 
The City desires to piggyback on an intergovernmental cooperative purchasing agreement with 
Sourcewell. The City is a member of Sourcewell (a service cooperative created by the Minnesota 
legislature as a local unit of government) under member number 170380.  Tyler Technologies Inc has 
participated in the competitive bid process in response to Sourcewell RFP # 090320 (Public Sector and 
Education Administrative Software Solutions with Related Services) and was awarded the contact, 
numbered 090320-TTI. Tyler Technologies has ranked #1 on the proposal evaluation scoring which 
includes: 

• Conformance to Terms/Conditions to include Documentation 
• Financial, Industry and Marketplace Successes 
• Bidder’s Ability to Sell/Service Contract Nationally 
• Bidder’s Marketing Plan 
• Value Added Attributes 
• Warranty Coverage and Information 
• Selection and Variety of Products and Services Offered 

 
Tyler Technologies has provided a quote to the City. As an existing client of Tyler Technologies, the City is 
receiving discounts on SaaS fees for currently used modules for the initial contracted term.  
 
Staff has completed negotiations with Tyler Technologies for a three-year initial contract term for 
acquiring, implementing, and utilizing the Munis ERP system for $429,328.00 (before taxes). The contract 
pricing is broken down between one-time and ongoing costs as: 
 

Description One-Time Fees Recurring Fees 
(3 Year Term) 

SaaS Fee of $67,074.00 Annually for 3 years  $201,222.00 
Professional Services for Implementation Conversion $213,886.00  
3rd Party Items (Hardware & Software) $520.00  
Estimated Travel Expenses for Tyler $13,700.00  
TOTAL Contract $228,106.00 $201,222.00 

*Plus applicable sales tax 
 
PROPOSED PROJECT SCHEDULE 
 
The project, start from finish, with all modules go-live would take about 18 months to 24 months. 
 

18



 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
 

The 2023 Amended Budget includes $250,000 budget in the Automotive/Equipment Reserve Fund for 
anticipated one-time costs which will be carried over to the 2024 budget year, then to the 2025 budget 
year for contracts remaining at the end of 2024 and to be completed in 2025. 
 
The costs of this contract include one-time costs for professional services for Tyler’s staff time for 
implementation, data migration, and training City staff and ongoing costs for annual subscription and 
support services for the selected enterprise resource planning modules. 
 
As provided above, the one-time cost is approximately $230,000, over a two-year project period. The 
funding of the one-time cost is from one-time reserves from the Automotive/Equipment Reserve Fund. 
The estimate costs are designed to be the maximum estimates and usually higher than the actual cost. 
 
Due to additional modules added to Munis, the annual SaaS Fees will increase by about $39,600 from 
current Eden annual fees. An estimated increase of $20,000 is included in the 2024 Adopted Budget in the 
General Fund, and it may require a budget amendment in 2024 for additional appropriations for the 
difference. Some of the cost will be allocated to other departments/funds using the cost allocation 
methods and procedures we have in place. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 

It is recommended that the City Council approve contracting with Tyler Technologies, Inc. for financial 
software and authorize the City Manager to execute the contract agreement that is substantively 
consistent with the attached draft.    
  
SUGGESTED MOTION 
 

I move that the City Council approve contracting with Tyler Technologies, Inc. for financial software and 
authorize the City Manager to execute the contract agreement that is substantively consistent with the 
attached draft.    
 
REFERENCES 
 
Tyler Technologies, Inc., Software as a Service Agreement 

April Oct Dec Jan April Oct Jan April
GL/Budget/PO Implementation Go Live

Go Live
Utility Billing Implementation Go Live

2025 2026

Payroll/HR Implementation

2024

19



2023-396347-P2F6B1  Page 1

 
Quoted By: Chris Deroche
Quote Expiration: 09/24/23
Quote Name: City of Chehalis-ERP-EERP
Quote Description: EERP ETA 12.5.23, Sourcewell 

#090320-TTI 
Saas Term 3.00

Sales Quotation For:
City of Chehalis
1321 S Market Blvd
Chehalis WA 98532-3619

Tyler SaaS and Related Services

Description Qty Imp. Hours Annual Fee
Financial Management    
Accounting 1 144 $ 11,127.00
Accounts Payable 1 28 $ 3,579.00
Budgeting 1 36 $ 3,579.00
Capital Assets 1 36 $ 3,046.00
Cash Management 1 16 $ 1,964.00
Contract Management 1 16 $ 1,293.00
Project & Grant Accounting 1 28 $ 2,352.00
Purchasing 1 60 $ 5,024.00
Human Resources Management    
Human Resources & Talent Management 1 88 $ 4,099.00
Payroll with Employee Access 1 200 $ 5,847.00
Time & Attendance w Mobile Access - Up to 150 Employees 1 80 $ 5,918.00
Revenue Management    
Accounts Receivable 1 60 $ 2,633.00
General Billing 1 28 $ 1,842.00

20



2023-396347-P2F6B1  Page 2

Content Management    
Content Manager Core 1 32 $ 5,740.00
Data Insights    
Enterprise Analytics and Reporting w Executive Insights 1 72 $ 10,712.00
Additional    
Enterprise Forms Processing Software (including Common Form Set) 1 0 $ 5,440.00

Sub-Total: $ 74,195.00
Less Discount: $ 7,121.00

TOTAL 924 $ 67,074.00

Professional Services    

Description Quantity Unit Price Ext Discount Extended Price Maintenance
Executive Insights Implementation 1 $ 4,800.00 $ 0.00 $ 4,800.00 $ 0.00
Payroll Accruals Import Hours 8 $ 175.00 $ 704.00 $ 696.00 $ 0.00
Payroll Deductions Import Hours 12 $ 175.00 $ 1,056.00 $ 1,044.00 $ 0.00
Position Control Import Hours 8 $ 175.00 $ 704.00 $ 696.00 $ 0.00
Project Management 140 $ 175.00 $ 0.00 $ 24,500.00 $ 0.00
Conversions – See Detailed Breakdown Below $ 14,250.00 $ 0.00
Onsite Implementation 248 $ 200.00 $ 0.00 $ 49,600.00 $ 0.00
Remote Implementation 676 $ 175.00 $ 0.00 $ 118,300.00 $ 0.00

TOTAL $ 213,886.00 $ 0.00

Transaction Fees    

Description
Enterprise ERP Payments
Utility Access Payments

21



2023-396347-P2F6B1  Page 3

3rd Party Hardware, Software and Services

Description Qty Unit Price
Unit 

Discount Total Price
Unit 

Maint/SaaS

Unit 
Maint/SaaS 

Discount
Total 

Maint/SaaS
Cash Drawer 2 $ 260.00 $ 0.00 $ 520.00 $ 0.00 $ 0.00 $ 0.00

TOTAL $ 520.00 $ 0.00

Summary One Time Fees Recurring Fees    
Total Tyler License Fees $ 0.00 $ 0.00  
Total SaaS $ 0.00 $ 67,074.00    
Total Tyler Services $ 213,886.00 $ 0.00    
Total Third-Party Hardware, Software, Services $ 520.00 $ 0.00    
Summary Total $ 214,406.00 $ 67,074.00    
Contract Total $ 415,628.00
Estimated Travel Expenses excl in Contract 
Total $ 13,700.00

Unless otherwise indicated in the contract or amendment thereto, pricing for optional items will be held
For six (6) months from the Quote date or the Effective Date of the Contract, whichever is later.

Customer Approval: Date:

Print Name: P.O.#:

All Primary values quoted in US Dollars

Detailed Breakdown of Conversions (Included in Summary Total)
Description Qty Unit Price Unit Discount Extended Price
Financials     
Accounting 1 $ 4,000.00 $ 2,000.00 $ 2,000.00

22



2023-396347-P2F6B1  Page 4

Accounts Payable 1 $ 6,200.00 $ 3,100.00 $ 3,100.00
Project Accounting 1 $ 4,000.00 $ 2,000.00 $ 2,000.00
Human Resources Management     
Human Resources Management 1 $ 14,300.00 $ 7,150.00 $ 7,150.00

TOTAL $ 14,250.00

Optional Tyler SaaS and Related Services

Description Qty Imp. Hours Annual Fee
Human Resources Management    
Recruiting 1 16 $ 838.00
Revenue Management    
Cashiering 1 36 $ 4,311.00
Resident Access 1 36 $ 3,800.00
Utility Billing CIS 1 88 $ 4,622.00
Utility Billing Meter Interface 1 16 $ 1,381.00
Civic Services    
My Civic 1 44 $ 8,000.00
Data Insights    
Open Finance 1 0 $ 12,000.00

TOTAL: 236 $ 34,952.00

Optional Professional Services    

Description Quantity Unit Price Ext. Discount Extended Price Maintenance
Install Fee - Open Finance 1 $ 3,200.00 $ 0.00 $ 3,200.00 $ 0.00
Conversion – See Detailed Breakdown Below $ 27,200.00 $ 0.00
Onsite Implementation 68 $ 200.00 $ 0.00 $ 13,600.00 $ 0.00

23



2023-396347-P2F6B1  Page 5

Remote Implementation 168 $ 175.00 $ 0.00 $ 29,400.00 $ 0.00
TOTAL $ 73,400.00 $ 0.00

Optional 3rd Party Hardware, Software and Services

Description Qty Unit Price

Unit 
Discount

Total Price
Unit 

Maint/SaaS

Unit 
Maint/SaaS 

Discount
Total 

Maint/SaaS
Hand Held Scanner - Model 1950GSR 1 $ 450.00 $ 0.00 $ 450.00 $ 0.00 $ 0.00 $ 0.00
Hand Held Scanner Stand 1 $ 30.00 $ 0.00 $ 30.00 $ 0.00 $ 0.00 $ 0.00
Pattern Stream Automated Document System - 
Implementation 56 $ 175.00 $ 0.00 $ 9,800.00 $ 0.00 $ 0.00 $ 0.00
Pattern Stream Automated Document System - 
SaaS 1 $ 0.00 $ 0.00 $ 0.00 $ 14,372.00 $ 0.00 $ 14,372.00
Printer (TM-S9000II) 1 $ 1,623.00 $ 0.00 $ 1,623.00 $ 0.00 $ 0.00 $ 0.00

TOTAL $ 11,903.00 $ 14,372.00

Optional Conversion Details (Prices Reflected Above)
Description Quantity Unit Price Discount Total
Revenue Management     
Utility Billing 1 $ 27,200.00 $ 0.00 $ 27,200.00

TOTAL $ 27,200.00

Tyler Annual Discount Detail (Excludes Optional Products)

Description Annual Fee
Annual Fee 

Discount Annual Fee Net
Financial Management
Accounting $ 11,127.00 $ 2,225.00 $ 8,902.00
Accounts Payable $ 3,579.00 $ 716.00 $ 2,863.00
Budgeting $ 3,579.00 $ 716.00 $ 2,863.00
Capital Assets $ 3,046.00 $ 0.00 $ 3,046.00

24



2023-396347-P2F6B1  Page 6

Cash Management $ 1,964.00 $ 0.00 $ 1,964.00
Contract Management $ 1,293.00 $ 0.00 $ 1,293.00
Project & Grant Accounting $ 2,352.00 $ 470.00 $ 1,882.00
Purchasing $ 5,024.00 $ 1,005.00 $ 4,019.00
Human Resources Management
Human Resources & Talent Management $ 4,099.00 $ 820.00 $ 3,279.00
Payroll with Employee Access $ 5,847.00 $ 1,169.00 $ 4,678.00
Time & Attendance w Mobile Access - Up to 150 Employees $ 5,918.00 $ 0.00 $ 5,918.00
Revenue Management
Accounts Receivable $ 2,633.00 $ 0.00 $ 2,633.00
General Billing $ 1,842.00 $ 0.00 $ 1,842.00
Content Management
Content Manager Core $ 5,740.00 $ 0.00 $ 5,740.00
Data Insights
Enterprise Analytics and Reporting w Executive Insights $ 10,712.00 $ 0.00 $ 10,712.00
Additional
Enterprise Forms Processing Software (including Common 
Form Set) $ 5,440.00 $ 0.00 $ 5,440.00

TOTAL $ 74,195.00 $ 7,121.00 $ 67,074.00
Comments
Tyler's quote contains estimates of the amount of services needed, based on our preliminary understanding of the scope, level of engagement, and 
timeline as defined in the Statement of Work (SOW) for your project. The actual amount of services required may vary, based on these factors.

Tyler's pricing is based on the scope of proposed products and services contracted from Tyler. Should portions of the scope of products or services be 
altered by the Client, Tyler reserves the right to adjust prices for the remaining scope accordingly.

Unless otherwise noted, prices submitted in the quote do not include travel expenses incurred in accordance with Tyler's then-current Business Travel 
Policy.

Tyler's prices do not include applicable local, city or federal sales, use excise, personal property or other similar taxes or duties, which you are 
responsible for determining and remitting. Installations are completed remotely but can be done onsite upon request at an additional cost.

In the event Client cancels services less than four (4) weeks in advance, Client is liable to Tyler for (i) all non-refundable expenses incurred by Tyler on 
Client's behalf; and (ii) daily fees associated with the cancelled services if Tyler is unable to re-assign its personnel.

25



2023-396347-P2F6B1  Page 7

The Implementation Hours included in this quote assume a work split effort of 70% Client and 30% Tyler.

Implementation Hours are scheduled and delivered in four (4) or eight (8) hour increments.

Tyler provides onsite training for a maximum of 12 people per class. In the event that more than 12 users wish to participate in a training class or more 
than one occurrence of a class is needed, Tyler will either provide additional days at then-current rates for training or Tyler will utilize a Train-the-
Trainer approach whereby the client designated attendees of the initial training can thereafter train the remaining users.

As a new Tyler client, you are entitled to a 14-day or a 30-day trial of the Managed Detection and Response cybersecurity service. Please reference 
https://www.tylertech.com/services/tyler-detect for more information on the service and contact CybersecuritySales@tylertech.com  to initiate the 
trial.

Tyler currently supports the following identity providers (IdP's) for use with Tyler back-office solutions: Microsoft Active Directory through Azure AD, 
ADFS or Okta AD agent, Google Cloud Identity, Okta, and Identity Automation Rapid Identity. Any requirement by you to use an IdP not supported by 
Tyler will require additional costs, available upon request.

Content Manager Core includes up to 1TB of storage. Should additional storage be needed it may be purchased as needed at an annual fee of $5,000 
per TB.

The SaaS fees for product that are not named users are based on 32 concurrent users.  Should the number of concurrent users be exceeded, 
Tyler reserves the right to re-negotiate the SaaS fees based upon any resulting changes in the pricing categories.
Utility billing library includes: standard Utility bill, standard UB receipt, standard UB delinquent notice, standard door hanger and standard final 
utility bill.

Financial library includes: standard A/P check, standard EFT/ACH, standard Purchase order, standard Contract, 1099M, 1099INT, 1099S, 1099NEC 
and 1099G.

General Billing library includes: standard invoice, standard statement, standard general billing receipt and standard miscellaneous receipt.

Personnel Actions Forms Library includes: standard Personnel Action form - New and standard Personnel Action Form - Change.

Standard Project Management responsibilities include project plan creation, initial stakeholder presentation, bi-weekly status calls, updating of 
project plan task statuses, and go-live planning activities.

26

https://www.tylertech.com/services/tyler-detect
mailto:CybersecuritySales@tylertech.com


2023-396347-P2F6B1  Page 8

Your rights, and the rights of any of your end users, to use Tyler’s Data & Insights SaaS Services, or certain Tyler solutions which include Tyler’s 
Data & Insights data platform, are subject to the Terms of Services, available at https://www.tylertech.com/terms/data-insights-saas-services-
terms-of-service. By signing this sales quotation, or accessing, installing, or using any of the Tyler solutions listed at the linked terms, you certify 
that you have reviewed, understand, and agree to said terms.

In the event Client acquires from Tyler any edition of Content Manager software other than Enterprise Edition, the license for Content Manager 
is restricted to use with Tyler applications only. If Client wishes to use Content Manager software with non-Tyler applications, Client must 
purchase or upgrade to Content Manager Enterprise Edition.

Payroll library includes: standard PR check, standard direct deposit, standard vendor from payroll check, standard vendor from payroll direct 
deposit, W2, W2c, ACA 1095B, ACA 1095C and 1099 R.

Accounting conversion includes: Actuals (total balances only) up to 5 years, Budgets (total balances only) up to 5 years

Accounts Payable conversion includes: Standard - Vendors, Remit Addresses, 1099 Amounts, Check History(Header, Detail) - up to 5 years, 
Invoices (Header, Detail) - up to 5 years

Human Resources Management conversion includes: Standard - Employee Master, Address, Accumulators (Earnings & Deduction totals by 
period) - up to 5 years, Check History - up to 5 years, Earning/Deduction History - up to 5 years, PM Action History - up to 5 years, Certifications, 
Education

Project Accounting conversion includes: Standard, Actuals - up to 5 years, Budgets - up to 5 years

Utility Billing conversion includes: Standard - UB Account, CID's, Services/Meter Inventory, Assessments, Consumption History - up to 5 years, 
Balance Forward AR, Service Orders, Backflow, Budget Billing, Flat Inventory/Containers

Your use of Payments and any related items included on this order is subject to the terms found at: https://www.tylertech.com/terms/payment-
card-processing-agreement. By signing this order or the agreement in which it is included, you agree you have read, understand, and agree to 
such terms. Please see attached Payments fee schedule.

27



 
 

SOFTWARE AS A SERVICE AGREEMENT 
 
This Software as a Service Agreement is made between Tyler Technologies, Inc. and Client. 
 
WHEREAS, Client is a member of Sourcewll (a service cooperative created by the Minnesota legislature 
as a local unit of government) under member account number 170380. 
 
WHREAS, Tyler participated in the competitive bid process in response to Sourcewell RFP #090320 by 
submitting a proposal, on which Sourcewell awarded Tyler a Sourcewell contract, numbered 090320-TTI 
(hereinafter, the “Sourcewell Contract”); 
 
WHEREAS, documentation of the Sourcewll competitive bid process, as well as Tyler’s contract with and 
pricing inforamiton for Sourcewell is available at https://sourcewell-mn.gov/cooperative-purchasing/; 
and 
 
WHEREAS, Client desires to purchase off the Sourcewell Contract to procure Munis and ExecuTime 
software functionality form Tyler, which Tyler agrees to deliver pursuant to the Sourcewell Contract and 
under the terms and conditions set forth below; 
 
WHEREAS, Client selected Tyler to provide certain products and services set forth in the Investment 
Summary, including providing Client with access to Tyler’s proprietary software products, and Tyler 
desires to provide such products and services under the terms of this Agreement; 
 
NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and of the mutual covenants and promises set forth 
in this Agreement, Tyler and Client agree as follows: 
 
SECTION A – DEFINITIONS 
 

• “Agreement” means this Software as a Services Agreement. 
• “Business Travel Policy” means our business travel policy.  A copy of our current Business Travel 

Policy is attached as Schedule 1 to Exhibit B. 
• “Client” means City of Chehalis, Washington. 
• “Data” means your data necessary to utilize the Tyler Software. 
• “Data Storage Capacity” means the contracted amount of storage capacity for your Data 

identified in the Investment Summary.  
• “Defect” means a failure of the Tyler Software to substantially conform to the functional 

descriptions set forth in our written proposal to you, or their functional equivalent.  Future 
functionality may be updated, modified, or otherwise enhanced through our maintenance and 
support services, and the governing functional descriptions for such future functionality will be 
set forth in our then-current Documentation. 

• “Defined Users” means the number of users that are authorized to use the SaaS Services.  The 
Defined Users for the Agreement are as identified in the Investment Summary. If Exhibit A 

Commented [CS1]: Add Sourcell Contract reference. Got this 
language from another agency’s (City of Camas) agreement who 
took the Sourcewell route. Please update/edit as necessary. City of 
Chehalis’s Sourcewell member account number is 170380. 

28

https://sourcewell-mn.gov/cooperative-purchasing/


contains Enterprise Permitting & Licensing labeled software, defined users mean the maximum 
number of named users that are authorized to use the Enterprise Permitting & Licensing labeled 
modules as indicated in the Investment Summary. 

• “Developer” means a third party who owns the intellectual property rights to Third Party 
Software. 

• “Documentation” means any online or written documentation related to the use or 
functionality of the Tyler Software that we provide or otherwise make available to you, including 
instructions, user guides, manuals and other training or self-help documentation. 

• “Effective Date” means the date by which both your and our authorized representatives have 
signed the Agreement. 

• “Force Majeure” means an event beyond the reasonable control of you or us, including, without 
limitation, governmental action, war, riot or civil commotion, fire, natural disaster, or any other 
cause that could not with reasonable diligence be foreseen or prevented by you or us. 

• “Investment Summary” means the agreed upon cost proposal for the products and services 
attached as Exhibit A. 

• “Invoicing and Payment Policy” means the invoicing and payment policy.  A copy of our current 
Invoicing and Payment Policy is attached as Exhibit B. 

• “Order Form” means an ordering document that includes a quote or investment summary and 
specifying the items to be provided by Tyler to Client, including any addenda and supplements 
thereto. 

• “SaaS Fees” means the fees for the SaaS Services identified in the Investment Summary. 
• “SaaS Services” means software as a service consisting of system administration, system 

management, and system monitoring activities that Tyler performs for the Tyler Software, and 
includes the right to access and use the Tyler Software, receive maintenance and support on the 
Tyler Software, including Downtime resolution under the terms of the SLA, and Data storage and 
archiving.  SaaS Services do not include support of an operating system or hardware, support 
outside of our normal business hours, or training, consulting or other professional services. 

• “SLA” means the service level agreement.  A copy of our current SLA is attached hereto as 
Exhibit C. 

• “Statement of Work” means the industry standard implementation plan describing how our 
professional services will be provided to implement the Tyler Software, and outlining your and 
our roles and responsibilities in connection with that implementation.  The Statement of Work is 
attached as Exhibit E. 

• “Support Call Process” means the support call process applicable to all of our customers who 
have licensed the Tyler Software.  A copy of our current Support Call Process is attached as 
Schedule 1 to Exhibit C. 

•  “Third Party Hardware” means the third party hardware, if any, identified in the Investment 
Summary. 

• “Third Party Products” means the Third Party Software and Third Party Hardware. 
• “Third Party SaaS Services” means software as a service provided by a third party, if any, 

identified in the Investment Summary. 
• “Third Party Services” means the third party services, if any, identified in the Investment 

Summary.  
• “Third Party Software” means the third party software, if any, identified in the Investment 

Summary.  
• “Third Party Terms” means, if any, the end user license agreement(s) or similar terms for the 

Third Party Products or other parties’ products or services, as applicable, and attached or 

29



indicated at Exhibit D. 
• “Tyler” means Tyler Technologies, Inc., a Delaware corporation. 
• “Tyler Software” means our proprietary software, including any integrations, custom 

modifications, and/or other related interfaces identified in the Investment Summary and 
licensed by us to you through this Agreement. 

• “we”, “us”, “our” and similar terms mean Tyler. 
• “you” and similar terms mean Client. 

 
SECTION B –SAAS SERVICES 
 
1. Rights Granted.   

 
1.1 We grant to you the non-exclusive, non-assignable limited right to use the SaaS Services solely 

for your internal business purposes for the number of Defined Users only.  The Tyler Software 
will be made available to you according to the terms of the SLA.  You acknowledge that we have 
no delivery obligations and we will not ship copies of the Tyler Software as part of the SaaS 
Services.  You may use the SaaS Services to access updates and enhancements to the Tyler 
Software, as further described in Section C(9).   

 
2. SaaS Fees.  You agree to pay us the SaaS Fees.  Those amounts are payable in accordance with our 

Invoicing and Payment Policy.  The SaaS Fees are based on the number of Defined Users and amount 
of Data Storage Capacity.  You may add additional users or additional data storage capacity on the 
terms set forth in Section H(1). In the event you regularly and/or meaningfully exceed the Defined  
Users or Data Storage Capacity, we reserve the right to charge you additional fees commensurate 
with the overage(s). Client will not be charged without first receiving notice of Tyler’s intent to do so 
and a reasonable opportunity to address the user or storage overages so that an additional fee is 
not required. 

 
3. Ownership.   

 
3.1 We retain all ownership and intellectual property rights to the SaaS Services, the Tyler Software, 

and anything developed by us under this Agreement.  You do not acquire under this Agreement 
any license to use the Tyler Software in excess of the scope and/or duration of the SaaS Services.   
 

3.2 The Documentation is licensed to you and may be used and copied by your employees for 
internal, non-commercial reference purposes only.   
 

3.3 You retain all ownership and intellectual property rights to the Data.  You expressly recognize 
that except to the extent necessary to carry out our obligations contained in this Agreement, we 
do not create or endorse any Data used in connection with the SaaS Services.    
 

4. Restrictions. You may not: (a) make the Tyler Software or Documentation resulting from the SaaS 
Services available in any manner to any third party for use in the third party’s business operations; 
(b) modify, make derivative works of, disassemble, reverse compile, or reverse engineer any part of 
the SaaS Services; (c) access or use the SaaS Services in order to build or support, and/or assist a 
third party in building or supporting, products or services competitive to us; or (d) license, sell, rent, 
lease, transfer, assign, distribute, display, host, outsource, disclose, permit timesharing or service 
bureau use, or otherwise commercially exploit or make the SaaS Services, Tyler Software, or 

Commented [CS2]:  

30



Documentation available to any third party other than as expressly permitted by this Agreement. 
 

5. Software Warranty.  We warrant that the Tyler Software will perform without Defects during the 
term of this Agreement.  If the Tyler Software does not perform as warranted, we will use all 
reasonable efforts, consistent with industry standards, to cure the Defect in accordance with the 
maintenance and support process set forth in Section C(9), below, the SLA and our then current 
Support Call Process. 

 
6. SaaS Services.  

 
6.1 Our SaaS Services are audited at least yearly in accordance with the AICPA’s Statement on 

Standards for Attestation Engagements (“SSAE”) No. 21. We have attained, and will maintain, 
SOC 1 and SOC 2 compliance, or its equivalent, for so long as you are timely paying for SaaS 
Services.  The scope of audit coverage varies for some Tyler Software solutions.  Upon execution 
of a mutually agreeable Non-Disclosure Agreement (“NDA”), we will provide you with a 
summary of our compliance report(s) or its equivalent.  Every year thereafter, for so long as the 
NDA is in effect and in which you make a written request, we will provide that same 
information.  If our SaaS Services are provided using a 3rd party data center, we will provide 
available compliance reports for that data center. 
 

6.2 You will be hosted on shared hardware in a Tyler data center or in a third-party data center.  In 
either event, databases containing your Data will be dedicated to you and inaccessible to our 
other customers.  

 
6.3 Our Tyler data centers have fully-redundant telecommunications access, electrical power, and 

the required hardware to provide access to the Tyler Software in the event of a disaster or 
component failure.  In the event of a data center failure, we reserve the right to employ our 
disaster recovery plan for resumption of the SaaS Services. In that event, we commit to a 
Recovery Point Objective (“RPO”) of 24 hours and a Recovery Time Objective (“RTO”) of 24 
hours.  RPO represents the maximum duration of time between the most recent recoverable 
copy of your hosted Data and subsequent data center failure.  RTO represents the maximum 
duration of time following data center failure within which your access to the Tyler Software 
must be restored. 

 
6.4 We conduct annual penetration testing of either the production network and/or web 

application to be performed.  We will maintain industry standard intrusion detection and 
prevention systems to monitor malicious activity in the network and to log and block any such 
activity.  We will provide you with a written or electronic record of the actions taken by us in the 
event that any unauthorized access to your database(s) is detected as a result of our security 
protocols.  We will undertake an additional security audit, on terms and timing to be mutually 
agreed to by the parties, at your written request.  You may not attempt to bypass or subvert 
security restrictions in the SaaS Services or environments related to the Tyler Software.  
Unauthorized attempts to access files, passwords or other confidential information, and 
unauthorized vulnerability and penetration test scanning of our network and systems (hosted or 
otherwise) is prohibited without the prior written approval of our IT Security Officer. 

 
6.5 We test our disaster recovery plan on an annual basis.  Our standard test is not client-specific.  

Should you request a client-specific disaster recovery test, we will work with you to schedule 

31



and execute such a test on a mutually agreeable schedule.  At your written request, we will 
provide test results to you within a commercially reasonable timeframe after receipt of the 
request.  

 
6.6 We will be responsible for importing back-up and verifying that you can log-in.  You will be 

responsible for running reports and testing critical processes to verify the returned Data.  
 

6.7 We provide secure Data transmission paths between each of your workstations and our servers.  
 

6.8 Tyler data centers are accessible only by authorized personnel with a unique key entry. All other 
visitors to Tyler data centers must be signed in and accompanied by authorized personnel.  
Entry attempts to the data center are regularly audited by internal staff and external auditors to 
ensure no unauthorized access. 
 

6.9 Where applicable with respect to our applications that take or process card payment data, we 
are responsible for the security of cardholder data that we possess, including functions relating 
to storing, processing, and transmitting of the cardholder data and affirm that, as of the 
Effective Date, we comply with applicable requirements to be considered PCI DSS compliant and 
have performed the necessary steps to validate compliance with the PCI DSS. We agree to 
supply the current status of our PCI DSS compliance program in the form of an official 
Attestation of Compliance, which can be found at https://www.tylertech.com/about-
us/compliance, and in the event of any change in our status, will comply with applicable notice 
requirements. 
 

7. License Rights Terminate Upon Migration.  When Tyler makes Tyler Software identified in the 
Investment Summary (the “Evergreen Modules”) and licensed pursuant to this Agreement available 
to the Client for use in live production, the license to the Tyler software listed in Exhibit A, Schedule 
1 (hereafter, “Migration Modules”) terminates, as do Tyler’s maintenance, support, and/or update 
obligations for such software. 

 
SECTION C –PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 
 
1. Professional Services. We will provide you the various implementation-related services itemized in 

the Investment Summary and described in the Statement of Work.  
 

2. Professional Services Fees.  You agree to pay us the professional services fees in the amounts set 
forth in the Investment Summary.  Those amounts are payable in accordance with our Invoicing and 
Payment Policy.  You acknowledge that the fees stated in the Investment Summary are good-faith 
estimates of the amount of time and materials required for your implementation.  We will bill you 
the actual fees incurred based on the in-scope services provided to you.  Any discrepancies in the 
total values set forth in the Investment Summary will be resolved by multiplying the applicable 
hourly rate by the quoted hours. 

 
3. Additional Services.  The Investment Summary contains, and the Statement of Work describes, the 

scope of services and related costs (including programming and/or interface estimates) required for 
the project based on our understanding of the specifications you supplied.  If additional work is 
required, or if you use or request additional services, we will provide you with an addendum or 
change order, as applicable, outlining the costs for the additional work.  The price quotes in the 

32



addendum or change order will be valid for thirty (30) days from the date of the quote.   
 

4. Cancellation.  If you cancel services less than four (4) weeks in advance (other than for Force 
Majeure or breach by us), you will be liable for all (a) daily fees associated with cancelled 
professional services if we are unable to reassign our personnel and (b) any non-refundable travel 
expenses already incurred by us on your behalf.  We will make all reasonable efforts to reassign 
personnel in the event you cancel within four (4) weeks of scheduled commitments. 
 

5. Services Warranty.  We will perform the services in a professional, workmanlike manner, consistent 
with industry standards.  In the event we provide services that do not conform to this warranty, we 
will re-perform such services at no additional cost to you. 

 
6. Site Access and Requirements.  At no cost to us, you agree to provide us with full and free access to 

your personnel, facilities, and equipment as may be reasonably necessary for us to provide 
implementation services, subject to any reasonable security protocols or other written policies 
provided to us as of the Effective Date, and thereafter as mutually agreed to by you and us.   

 
7. Background Checks.  For at least the past twelve (12) years, all of our employees have undergone 

criminal background checks prior to hire. All employees sign our confidentiality agreement and 
security policies.  

 
8. Client Assistance.  You acknowledge that the implementation of the Tyler Software is a cooperative 

process requiring the time and resources of your personnel.  You agree to use all reasonable efforts 
to cooperate with and assist us as may be reasonably required to meet the agreed upon project 
deadlines and other milestones for implementation.  This cooperation includes at least working with 
us to schedule the implementation-related services outlined in this Agreement.  We will not be 
liable for failure to meet any deadlines and milestones when such failure is due to Force Majeure or 
to the failure by your personnel to provide such cooperation and assistance (either through action 
or omission). 

 
9. Maintenance and Support.  For so long as you timely pay your SaaS Fees according to the Invoicing 

and Payment Policy, then in addition to the terms set forth in the SLA and the Support Call Process, 
we will: 

 
9.1 perform our maintenance and support obligations in a professional, good, and workmanlike 

manner, consistent with industry standards, to resolve Defects in the Tyler Software (subject to 
any applicable release life cycle policy);  
 

9.2 provide support during our established support hours; 
 

9.3 maintain personnel that are sufficiently trained to be familiar with the Tyler Software and Third 
Party Software, if any, in order to provide maintenance and support services; 
 

9.4 make available to you all releases to the Tyler Software (including updates and enhancements) 
that we make generally available without additional charge to customers who have a 
maintenance and support agreement in effect; and 
 

9.5 provide non-Defect resolution support of prior releases of the Tyler Software in accordance with 

33



any applicable release life cycle policy. 
 

We will use all reasonable efforts to perform support services remotely.  Currently, we use a third-
party secure unattended connectivity tool called Bomgar, as well as GotoAssist by Citrix.  Therefore, 
you agree to maintain a high-speed internet connection capable of connecting us to your PCs and 
server(s).  You agree to provide us with a login account and local administrative privileges as we may 
reasonably require to perform remote services.  We will, at our option, use the secure connection to 
assist with proper diagnosis and resolution, subject to any reasonably applicable security protocols.  
If we cannot resolve a support issue remotely, we may be required to provide onsite services.  In 
such event, we will be responsible for our travel expenses, unless it is determined that the reason 
onsite support was required was a reason outside our control.  Either way, you agree to provide us 
with full and free access to the Tyler Software, working space, adequate facilities within a 
reasonable distance from the equipment, and use of machines, attachments, features, or other 
equipment reasonably necessary for us to provide the maintenance and support services, all at no 
charge to us.  We strongly recommend that you also maintain your VPN for backup connectivity 
purposes. 
 
For the avoidance of doubt, SaaS Fees do not include the following services: (a) onsite support 
(unless Tyler cannot remotely correct a Defect in the Tyler Software, as set forth above); (b) 
application design; (c) other consulting services; or (d) support outside our normal business hours as 
listed in our then-current Support Call Process.  Requested services such as those outlined in this 
section will be billed to you on a time and materials basis at our then current rates.  You must 
request those services with at least one (1) weeks’ advance notice. 

 
10. Support of Migration Modules.  Beginning on the commencement of the initial term as set forth in 

Section F (1) of this Agreement, and contingent upon Client’s timely payment of annual SaaS Fees 
for Tyler Evergreen Modules, Client is entitled to receive, at no additional charge, maintenance and 
support for the Migration Modules until Tyler makes the Tyler Evergreen Modules available for use 
in live production. 

 
SECTION D – THIRD PARTY PRODUCTS 
 
1. Third Party Hardware.  We will sell, deliver, and install onsite the Third Party Hardware, if you have 

purchased any, for the price set forth in the Investment Summary.  Those amounts are payable in 
accordance with our Invoicing and Payment Policy. 
 

2. Third Party Software.  As part of the SaaS Services, you will receive access to the Third Party 
Software and related documentation for internal business purposes only.  Your rights to the Third 
Party Software will be governed by the Third Party Terms.   
 

3. Third Party Products Warranties. 
 

3.1 We are authorized by each Developer to grant access to the Third Party Software. 
 

3.2 The Third Party Hardware will be new and unused, and upon payment in full, you will receive 
free and clear title to the Third Party Hardware. 
 

3.3 You acknowledge that we are not the manufacturer of the Third Party Products.  We do not 

34



warrant or guarantee the performance of the Third Party Products.  However, we grant and pass 
through to you any warranty that we may receive from the Developer or supplier of the Third 
Party Products. 
 

4. Third Party Services.  If you have purchased Third Party Services, those services will be provided 
independent of Tyler by such third-party at the rates set forth in the Investment Summary and in 
accordance with our Invoicing and Payment Policy. 

 
SECTION E - INVOICING AND PAYMENT; INVOICE DISPUTES 

 
1. Invoicing and Payment.  We will invoice you the SaaS Fees and fees for other professional services in 

the Investment Summary per our Invoicing and Payment Policy, subject to Section E(2).     
 

2. Invoice Disputes. If you believe any delivered software or service does not conform to the 
warranties in this Agreement, you will provide us with written notice within thirty (30) days of your 
receipt of the applicable invoice.  The written notice must contain reasonable detail of the issues 
you contend are in dispute so that we can confirm the issue and respond to your notice with either a 
justification of the invoice, an adjustment to the invoice, or a proposal addressing the issues 
presented in your notice.  We will work with you as may be necessary to develop an action plan that 
outlines reasonable steps to be taken by each of us to resolve any issues presented in your notice.  
You may withhold payment of the amount(s) actually in dispute, and only those amounts, until we 
complete the action items outlined in the plan.  If we are unable to complete the action items 
outlined in the action plan because of your failure to complete the items agreed to be done by you, 
then you will remit full payment of the invoice.  We reserve the right to suspend delivery of all SaaS 
Services, including maintenance and support services, if you fail to pay an invoice not disputed as 
described above within fifteen (15) days of notice of our intent to do so. 
 

SECTION F – TERM AND TERMINATION 
 
1. Term.  The initial term of this Agreement equal to the number of years indicated for SaaS Services in 

Exhibit A, commencing on the first day of the first month following the Effective Date, unless earlier 
terminated as set forth below.  If no duration is indicated in Exhibit A, the initial term is one (1) year.  
Upon expiration of the initial term, this Agreement will renew automatically for additional one (1) 
year renewal terms at our then-current SaaS Fees unless terminated in writing by either party at 
least sixty (60) days prior to the end of the then-current renewal term.  Your right to access or use 
the Tyler Software and the SaaS Services will terminate at the end of this Agreement.   

 
2. Termination.  This Agreement may be terminated as set forth below.  In the event of termination, 

you will pay us for all undisputed fees and expenses related to the software, products, and/or 
services you have received, or we have incurred or delivered, prior to the effective date of 
termination.  Disputed fees and expenses in all terminations other than your termination for cause 
must have been submitted as invoice disputes in accordance with Section E(2). 
 
2.1 Failure to Pay SaaS Fees.  You acknowledge that continued access to the SaaS Services is 

contingent upon your timely payment of SaaS Fees.  If you fail to timely pay the SaaS Fees, we 
may discontinue the SaaS Services and deny your access to the Tyler Software.  We may also 
terminate this Agreement if you don’t cure such failure to pay within forty-five (45) days of 
receiving written notice of our intent to terminate. 

35



 
2.2 For Cause.  If you believe we have materially breached this Agreement, you will invoke the 

Dispute Resolution clause set forth in Section H(3).  You may terminate this Agreement for cause 
in the event we do not cure, or create a mutually agreeable action plan to address, a material 
breach of this Agreement within the thirty (30) day window set forth in Section H(3).   
 

2.3 Force Majeure.  Either party has the right to terminate this Agreement if a Force Majeure event 
suspends performance of the SaaS Services for a period of forty-five (45) days or more. 
 

2.4 Lack of Appropriations.  If you should not appropriate or otherwise make available funds 
sufficient to utilize the SaaS Services, you may unilaterally terminate this Agreement upon thirty 
(30) days written notice to us.  You will not be entitled to a refund or offset of previously paid, 
but unused SaaS Fees.  You agree not to use termination for lack of appropriations as a 
substitute for termination for convenience. 
 

SECTION G – INDEMNIFICATION, LIMITATION OF LIABILITY AND INSURANCE 
 
1. Intellectual Property Infringement Indemnification.   

 
1.1 We will defend you against any third party claim(s) that the Tyler Software or Documentation 

infringes that third party’s patent, copyright, or trademark, or misappropriates its trade secrets, 
and will pay the amount of any resulting adverse final judgment (or settlement to which we 
consent).  You must notify us promptly in writing of the claim and give us sole control over its 
defense or settlement.  You agree to provide us with reasonable assistance, cooperation, and 
information in defending the claim at our expense. 
 

1.2 Our obligations under this Section G(1) will not apply to the extent the claim or adverse final 
judgment is based on your use of the Tyler Software in contradiction of this Agreement, 
including with non-licensed third parties, or your willful infringement. 
 

1.3 If we receive information concerning an infringement or misappropriation claim related to the 
Tyler Software, we may, at our expense and without obligation to do so, either: (a) procure for 
you the right to continue its use; (b) modify it to make it non-infringing; or (c) replace it with a 
functional equivalent, in which case you will stop running the allegedly infringing Tyler Software 
immediately.  Alternatively, we may decide to litigate the claim to judgment, in which case you 
may continue to use the Tyler Software consistent with the terms of this Agreement. 
 

1.4 If an infringement or misappropriation claim is fully litigated and your use of the Tyler Software 
is enjoined by a court of competent jurisdiction, in addition to paying any adverse final 
judgment (or settlement to which we consent), we will, at our option, either: (a) procure the 
right to continue its use; (b) modify it to make it non-infringing; or (c) replace it with a functional 
equivalent.  This section provides your exclusive remedy for third party copyright, patent, or 
trademark infringement and trade secret misappropriation claims. 
 

2. General Indemnification. 
 

2.1 We will indemnify and hold harmless you and your agents, officials, and employees from and 
against any and all third-party claims, losses, liabilities, damages, costs, and expenses (including 

36



reasonable attorney's fees and costs) for (a) personal injury or property damage to the extent 
caused by our negligence or willful misconduct; or (b) our violation of PCI-DSS requirements or a 
law applicable to our performance under this Agreement.  You must notify us promptly in 
writing of the claim and give us sole control over its defense or settlement.  You agree to 
provide us with reasonable assistance, cooperation, and information in defending the claim at 
our expense. 
 

2.2 To the extent permitted by applicable law, you will indemnify and hold harmless us and our 
agents, officials, and employees from and against any and all third-party claims, losses, 
liabilities, damages, costs, and expenses (including reasonable attorney's fees and costs) for 
personal injury or property damage to the extent caused by your negligence or willful 
misconduct; or (b) your violation of a law applicable to your performance under this Agreement. 
We will notify you promptly in writing of the claim and will give you sole control over its defense 
or settlement.  We agree to provide you with reasonable assistance, cooperation, and 
information in defending the claim at your expense. 
 

3. DISCLAIMER.  EXCEPT FOR THE EXPRESS WARRANTIES PROVIDED IN THIS AGREEMENT AND TO 
THE MAXIMUM EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, WE HEREBY DISCLAIM ALL OTHER 
WARRANTIES AND CONDITIONS, WHETHER EXPRESS, IMPLIED, OR STATUTORY, INCLUDING, BUT 
NOT LIMITED TO, ANY IMPLIED WARRANTIES, DUTIES, OR CONDITIONS OF MERCHANTABILITY OR 
FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE. CLIENT UNDERSTANDS AND AGREES THAT TYLER 
DISCLAIMS ANY LIABILITY FOR ERRORS THAT RELATE TO USER ERROR. 

 
4. LIMITATION OF LIABILITY.  EXCEPT AS OTHERWISE EXPRESSLY SET FORTH IN THIS AGREEMENT, 

OUR LIABILITY FOR DAMAGES ARISING OUT OF THIS AGREEMENT, WHETHER BASED ON A THEORY 
OF CONTRACT OR TORT, INCLUDING NEGLIGENCE AND STRICT LIABILITY, SHALL BE LIMITED TO 
YOUR ACTUAL DIRECT DAMAGES, NOT TO EXCEED (A) DURING THE INITIAL TERM, AS SET FORTH 
IN SECTION F(1), TOTAL FEES PAID AS OF THE TIME OF THE CLAIM; OR (B) DURING ANY RENEWAL 
TERM, THE THEN-CURRENT ANNUAL SAAS FEES PAYABLE IN THAT RENEWAL TERM.  THE PARTIES 
ACKNOWLEDGE AND AGREE THAT THE PRICES SET FORTH IN THIS AGREEMENT ARE SET IN 
RELIANCE UPON THIS LIMITATION OF LIABILITY AND TO THE MAXIMUM EXTENT ALLOWED UNDER 
APPLICABLE LAW, THE EXCLUSION OF CERTAIN DAMAGES, AND EACH SHALL APPLY REGARDLESS 
OF THE FAILURE OF AN ESSENTIAL PURPOSE OF ANY REMEDY.  THE FOREGOING LIMITATION OF 
LIABILITY SHALL NOT APPLY TO CLAIMS THAT ARE SUBJECT TO SECTIONS G(1) AND G(2). 

 
5. EXCLUSION OF CERTAIN DAMAGES.  TO THE MAXIMUM EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, 

IN NO EVENT SHALL WE BE LIABLE FOR ANY SPECIAL, INCIDENTAL, PUNITIVE, INDIRECT, OR 
CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES WHATSOEVER, EVEN IF WE HAVE BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY 
OF SUCH DAMAGES. 

 
6. Insurance.  During the course of performing services under this Agreement, we agree to maintain 

the following levels of insurance: (a) Commercial General Liability of at least $1,000,000 each 
accurance, $2,000,000 general aggregate; (b) Automobile Liability of at least $1,000,000 per 
accident; (c) Professional Liability of at least $1,000,000; (d) Workers Compensation complying with 
applicable statutory requirements of the State of Washington;(e) Newwork Security (Cyber) and 
Privacy coverage with limits no less than $2,000,000 per claim , $2,000,000 policy aggregate, 
$100,000 per claim for regulatory action (fines and penalties), and $100,000 per claim for event 
management,  and (fe) Excess/Umbrella Liability of at least $5,000,000.  We will add you as an 

Commented [CS3]: Also from City of Camas’ agreement. 

37



additional insured to our Commercial General Liability and Automobile Liability policies, which will 
automatically add you as an additional insured to our Excess/Umbrella Liability policy as well.  We 
will provide you with copies of certificates of insurance upon your written request. 

 
SECTION H – GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 
 
1. Additional Products and Services.  You may purchase additional products and services at the rates 

set forth in the Investment Summary for twenty-four (24) twelve (12) months from the Effective 
Date by executing a mutually agreed addendum.  If no rate is provided in the Investment Summary, 
or those twenty-four (24) twelve (12) months have expired, you may purchase additional products 
and services at our then-current list price, also by executing a mutually agreed addendum.  The 
terms of this Agreement will control any such additional purchase(s), unless otherwise specifically 
provided in the addendum. 
 

2. Optional Items.  Pricing for any listed optional products and services in the Investment Summary will 
be valid for twenty-four (24) twelve (12) months from the Effective Date. 

 
3. Dispute Resolution.  You agree to provide us with written notice within thirty (30) days of becoming 

aware of a dispute.  You agree to cooperate with us in trying to reasonably resolve all disputes, 
including, if requested by either party, appointing a senior representative to meet and engage in 
good faith negotiations with our appointed senior representative.  Senior representatives will 
convene within thirty (30) days of the written dispute notice, unless otherwise agreed.  All meetings 
and discussions between senior representatives will be deemed confidential settlement discussions 
not subject to disclosure under Federal Rule of Evidence 408 or any similar applicable state rule.  If 
we fail to resolve the dispute, then the parties shall participate in non-binding mediation in an effort 
to resolve the dispute.  If the dispute remains unresolved after mediation, then either of us may 
assert our respective rights and remedies in a court of competent jurisdiction.  Nothing in this 
section shall prevent you or us from seeking necessary injunctive relief during the dispute resolution 
procedures. 

 
4. Taxes.  The fees in the Investment Summary do not include any taxes, including, without limitation, 

sales, use, or excise tax.  If you are a tax-exempt entity, you agree to provide us with a tax-exempt 
certificate.  Otherwise, we will pay all applicable taxes to the proper authorities and you will 
reimburse us for such taxes.  If you have a valid direct-pay permit, you agree to provide us with a 
copy.  For clarity, we are responsible for paying our income taxes, both federal and state, as 
applicable, arising from our performance of this Agreement.       
  

5. Nondiscrimination.  We will not discriminate against any person employed or applying for 
employment concerning the performance of our responsibilities under this Agreement.  This 
discrimination prohibition will apply to all matters of initial employment, tenure, and terms of 
employment, or otherwise with respect to any matter directly or indirectly relating to employment 
concerning race, color, religion, national origin, age, sex, sexual orientation, ancestry, disability that 
is unrelated to the individual's ability to perform the duties of a particular job or position, height, 
weight, marital status, or political affiliation.  We will post, where appropriate, all notices related to 
nondiscrimination as may be required by applicable law. 
 

6. E-Verify.  We have complied, and will comply, with the E-Verify procedures administered by the U.S. 
Citizenship and Immigration Services Verification Division for all of our employees assigned to your 

Commented [CS4]: Per conversation with Chris. Potential 
addition of Utility Billing may take more than 12 months. 

38



project. 
 

7. Subcontractors.  We will not subcontract any services under this Agreement without your prior 
written consent, not to be unreasonably withheld. 
 

8. Binding Effect; No Assignment.  This Agreement shall be binding on, and shall be for the benefit of, 
either your or our successor(s) or permitted assign(s). Neither party may assign this Agreement 
without the prior written consent of the other party; provided, however, your consent is not 
required for an assignment by us as a result of a corporate reorganization, merger, acquisition, or 
purchase of substantially all of our assets. 

 
9. Force Majeure.  Except for your payment obligations, neither party will be liable for delays in 

performing its obligations under this Agreement to the extent that the delay is caused by Force 
Majeure; provided, however, that within ten (10) business days of the Force Majeure event, the 
party whose performance is delayed provides the other party with written notice explaining the 
cause and extent thereof, as well as a request for a reasonable time extension equal to the 
estimated duration of the Force Majeure event.   

 
10. No Intended Third Party Beneficiaries.  This Agreement is entered into solely for the benefit of you 

and us.  No third party will be deemed a beneficiary of this Agreement, and no third party will have 
the right to make any claim or assert any right under this Agreement.  This provision does not affect 
the rights of third parties under any Third Party Terms. 

 
11. Entire Agreement; Amendment.  This Agreement represents the entire agreement between you and 

us with respect to the subject matter hereof, and supersedes any prior agreements, understandings, 
and representations, whether written, oral, expressed, implied, or statutory.  Purchase orders 
submitted by you, if any, are for your internal administrative purposes only, and the terms and 
conditions contained in those purchase orders will have no force or effect.  This Agreement may 
only be modified by a written amendment signed by an authorized representative of each party. 

 
12. Severability.  If any term or provision of this Agreement is held invalid or unenforceable, the 

remainder of this Agreement will be considered valid and enforceable to the fullest extent 
permitted by law. 
 

13. No Waiver.  In the event that the terms and conditions of this Agreement are not strictly enforced 
by either party, such non-enforcement will not act as or be deemed to act as a waiver or 
modification of this Agreement, nor will such non-enforcement prevent such party from enforcing 
each and every term of this Agreement thereafter. 
 

14. Independent Contractor.  We are an independent contractor for all purposes under this Agreement. 
 

15. Notices.  All notices or communications required or permitted as a part of this Agreement, such as 
notice of an alleged material breach for a termination for cause or a dispute that must be submitted 
to dispute resolution, must be in writing and will be deemed delivered upon the earlier of the 
following: (a) actual receipt by the receiving party; (b) upon receipt by sender of a certified mail, 
return receipt signed by an employee or agent of the receiving party; (c) upon receipt by sender of 
proof of email delivery; or (d) if not actually received, five (5) days after deposit with the United 
States Postal Service authorized mail center with proper postage (certified mail, return receipt 

39



requested) affixed and addressed to the other party at the address set forth on the signature page 
hereto or such other address as the party may have designated by proper notice.  The consequences 
for the failure to receive a notice due to improper notification by the intended receiving party of a 
change in address will be borne by the intended receiving party. 

 
16. Client Lists.  You agree that we may identify you by name in client lists, marketing presentations, and 

promotional materials. 
 

17. Confidentiality.  Both parties recognize that their respective employees and agents, in the course of 
performance of this Agreement, may be exposed to confidential information and that disclosure of 
such information could violate rights to private individuals and entities, including the parties.  
Confidential information is nonpublic information that a reasonable person would believe to be 
confidential and includes, without limitation, personal identifying information (e.g., social security 
numbers) and trade secrets, each as defined by applicable state law.  Each party agrees that it will 
not disclose any confidential information of the other party and further agrees to take all reasonable 
and appropriate action to prevent such disclosure by its employees or agents.  The confidentiality 
covenants contained herein will survive the termination or cancellation of this Agreement.  This 
obligation of confidentiality will not apply to information that: 

(a) is in the public domain, either at the time of disclosure or afterwards, except by breach of 
this Agreement by a party or its employees or agents; 

(b) a party can establish by reasonable proof was in that party's possession at the time of initial 
disclosure; 

(c) a party receives from a third party who has a right to disclose it to the receiving party; or 
(d) is the subject of a legitimate disclosure request under the open records laws or similar 

applicable public disclosure laws governing this Agreement; provided, however, that in the 
event you receive an open records or other similar applicable request, you will give us 
prompt notice and otherwise perform the functions required by applicable law.   

 
18. Quarantining of Client Data.  Some services provided by Tyler require us to be in possession of your 

Data.  In the event we detect malware or other conditions associated with your Data that are 
reasonably suspected of putting Tyler resources or other Tyler clients’ data at risk, we reserve the 
absolute right to move your Data from its location within a multi-tenancy Tyler hosted environment 
to an isolated “quarantined” environment without advance notice.  Your Data will remain in such 
quarantine for a period of at least six (6) months during which time we will review the Data, and all 
traffic associated with the Data, for signs of malware or other similar issues.   If no issues are 
detected through such reviews during the six (6) month period of quarantine, we will coordinate 
with you the restoration of your Data to a non-quarantined environment.  In the event your Data 
must remain in quarantine beyond this six (6) month period through no fault of Tyler’s, we reserve 
the right to require payment of additional fees for the extended duration of quarantine.  We will 
provide an estimate of what those costs will be upon your request. 
 
Add provision regarding safeguarding of personal information per RCW 19.255.010? 
19. Safeguarding of Personal Information. Tyler shall not use or disclose Personal Information, as 

defined in RCW 19.255.010, in any manner that would constitute a violation of federal law or 
applicable provisions of Washington State law. Tyler agrees to comply with all applicable federal 
and state laws and regulations, as currently enacted or revised, regarding data security and 
electronic data interchange of Personal Information. Tyler shall ensure its directors, officers, 
employees, subcontractors or agents use Personal Information solely for the purposes of 

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2,
3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

40



accomplishing the services set forth in the Agreement. Tyler shall use industry standard 
methods to protect Personal Information collected, used, or acquired in connection with the 
Agreement, against unauthorized use, disclosure, modification, or loss. Tyler and its sub-
consultants agree not to release, divulge, publish, transfer, sell or otherwise make Personal 
Information known to unauthorized persons without the express written consent of Client, or 
otherwise authorized by law. Tyler agrees to implement physical, electronic, and managerial 
policies, procedures, and safeguards designed to prevent, in accordance with industry 
standards, unauthorized access, use, or disclosure of Personal Information. Tyler shall make the 
Personal Information available to amend as directed by Client and incorporate any amendments 
into all the copies maintained by Tyler or its subcontractors. Tyler shall certify its return or 
destruction upon expiration or termination of the Agreement and Tyer shall, to the extent 
commercially practicable, retain no copies. If Tyler reasonably determines that return or 
destruction is not feasible, Tyler shall not use the Personal Information in a manner other than 
those permitted or authorized by applicable state and federal laws. Tyler shall notify client of 
any confirmed incidents or unauthorized access, use or disclosure of Personal Information in 
accordance with applicable state and federal laws. 

 
 

19.20. Business License.  In the event a local business license is required for us to perform services 
hereunder, you will promptly notify us and provide us with the necessary paperwork and/or contact 
information so that we may timely obtain such license. 
 

20.21. Governing Law.  This Agreement will be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws 
of your state of domicile, without regard to its rules on conflicts of law. 
 

21.22. Multiple Originals and Authorized Signatures.  This Agreement may be executed in multiple 
originals, any of which will be independently treated as an original document.  Any electronic, faxed, 
scanned, photocopied, or similarly reproduced signature on this Agreement or any amendment 
hereto will be deemed an original signature and will be fully enforceable as if an original signature.  
Each party represents to the other that the signatory set forth below is duly authorized to bind that 
party to this Agreement. 
 

22.23. Cooperative Procurement.  To the maximum extent permitted by applicable law, we agree that 
this Agreement may be used as a cooperative procurement vehicle by eligible jurisdictions.  We 
reserve the right to negotiate and customize the terms and conditions set forth herein, including but 
not limited to pricing, to the scope and circumstances of that cooperative procurement. 

 
23.24. Data & Insights Solution Terms.  Your use of certain Tyler solutions includes Tyler’s Data & 

Insights data platform.  Your rights, and the rights of any of your end users, to use Tyler’s Data & 
Insights data platform is subject to the Data & Insights SaaS Services Terms of Service, available at 
https://www.tylertech.com/terms/data-insights-saas-services-terms-of-service.  By signing a Tyler 
Agreement or Order Form, or accessing, installing, or using any of the Tyler solutions listed at the 
linked terms, you certify that you have reviewed, understand, and agree to said terms. 

 

Commented [CS5]: Excerpt from the City of Camas Agreement, 
page 14. A separate provision regarding safeguarding personal 
information per RCW 19.255.010 Can you take a look and see if it 
should be or can be added? 

41

https://www.tylertech.com/terms/data-insights-saas-services-terms-of-service


24.25. Contract Documents.  This Agreement includes the following exhibits: 
 

Exhibit A Investment Summary 
  Schedule 1: Migration Modules  
  Schedule 2: Tyler Sales Quote 
Exhibit B Invoicing and Payment Policy 

Schedule 1: Business Travel Policy 
Exhibit C Service Level Agreement 

Schedule 1: Support Call Process 
Exhibit D Third Party Terms  
Exhibit E Statement of Work  

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, a duly authorized representative of each party has executed this Agreement as 
of the date(s) set forth below. 
 
 
Tyler Technologies, Inc.     City of Chehalis, Washington 
 
By:       By:       
 
Name:       Name:       
 
Title:       Title:       
 
Date:       Date:       
 
Address for Notices:     Address for Notices: 
Tyler Technologies, Inc. City of Chehalis 
One Tyler Drive 1321 S Market Boulevard 
Yarmouth, ME 04096 Chehalis, Washington 98532 
Attention: Chief Legal Officer Attention: ______________________________ 
 
 
 

42



 

 
Exhibit A 

Investment Summary 
 
The following Investment Summary details the software and services to be delivered by us to you under 
the Agreement.  This Investment Summary is effective as of the Effective Date, despite any expiration 
date in the Investment Summary that may have lapsed as of the Effective Date.  Capitalized terms not 
otherwise defined will have the meaning assigned to such terms in the Agreement.  In the event of 
conflict between the Agreement and terms in the Comments section of this Investment Summary, the 
language in the Agreement will prevail. 
 
Tyler sales quotation to be inserted prior to Agreement execution. 
 
 

REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

Commented [CS6]: Can we add the Saas Term as “five” years 
rather than one year? Pros & cons? 

43



 

 
Exhibit A 

Schedule 1 
Migration Modules 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Menu Support 
Project Accounting Support 
Budget Preparation Support 
Data Dictionaries Support 
Tyler Output Processing Support 
GL/AP Support 
Payroll Support 
 

44



 

 
Exhibit A 

Schedule 2 
Tyler Sales Quote 

(Tyler Sales Quote to be inserted prior to Agreement execution) 
 
 
 
 
 

REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

45



 
 

Exhibit B 
Invoicing and Payment Policy 

 
We will provide you with the software and services set forth in the Investment Summary of the 
Agreement.  Capitalized terms not otherwise defined will have the meaning assigned to such terms in 
the Agreement. 
 
Invoicing:  We will invoice you for the applicable software and services in the Investment Summary as 
set forth below.  Your rights to dispute any invoice are set forth in the Agreement. 
 

1. SaaS Fees.  SaaS Fees are invoiced on an annual basis, beginning on the commencement of the 
initial term as set forth in Section F (1) of this Agreement.  Your annual SaaS fees for the initial 
term are set forth in the Investment Summary. Upon expiration of the initial term, your annual 
SaaS fees will be at our then-current rates.   Beginning on the commencement of the initial 
term, Client shall no longer be required to pay annual support fees for the Migration Modules.  
 

2. Other Tyler Software and Services. 
 

2.1 VPN Device: The fee for the VPN device will be invoiced upon installation of the VPN. 
 
2.2 Implementation and Other Professional Services (including training): Implementation and 

other professional services (including training) are billed and invoiced as delivered, at the 
rates set forth in the Investment Summary.  
 

2.3 Consulting Services: If you have purchased any Business Process Consulting services, if they 
have been quoted as fixed-fee services, they will be invoiced 50% upon your acceptance of 
the best practice recommendations, by module, and 50% upon your acceptance of custom 
desktop procedures, by module.  If you have purchased any Business Process Consulting 
services and they are quoted as an estimate, then we will bill you the actual services 
delivered on a time and materials basis. 

 
2.4 Conversions: Fixed-fee conversions are invoiced 50% upon initial delivery of the converted 

Data, by conversion option, and 50% upon Client acceptance to load the converted Data into 
Live/Production environment, by conversion option.  Where conversions are quoted as 
estimated, we will bill you the actual services delivered on a time and materials basis. 

 
2.5 Requested Modifications to the Tyler Software: Requested modifications to the Tyler 

Software are invoiced 50% upon delivery of specifications and 50% upon delivery of the 
applicable modification.  You must report any failure of the modification to conform to the 
specifications within thirty (30) days of delivery; otherwise, the modification will be deemed 
to be in compliance with the specifications after the 30-day window has passed.  You may 
still report Defects to us as set forth in this Agreement. 

46



 
2.6 Other Fixed Price Services: Other fixed price services are invoiced as delivered, at the rates 

set forth in the Investment Summary. For the avoidance of doubt, where “Project Planning 
Services” are provided, payment will be due upon delivery of the Implementation Planning 
document.  
 

2.7 Web Services:  Annual fees for web services are payable in advance, commencing upon the 
availability of the service.  Your annual fees for the initial term are set forth in the 
Investment Summary. Upon expiration of the initial term, your annual fees will be at our 
then-current rates.    
 

2.8 Annual Services: Unless otherwise indicated in this Exhibit B, fees for annual services are due 
annually, in advance, commencing on the availability of the service. Your annual fees for the 
initial term are set forth in the Investment Summary. Upon expiration of the initial term, 
your annual fees will be at our then-current rates.    

 
3. Third Party Products and Hardware.   

 
3.1 Third Party Software License Fees: License fees for Third Party Software, if any, are invoiced 

when we make it available to you for downloading. 
 
3.2 Third Party Software Maintenance: The first year maintenance fee for the Third Party 

Software is invoiced when we make it available to you for downloading. Subsequent annual 
maintenance fees for Third Party Software are invoiced annually, in advance, at then-
current rates, upon each anniversary thereof. 

 
3.3 Hardware: Third Party Hardware costs, if any, are invoiced upon delivery. 
 
3.4 Hardware Maintenance: The first year maintenance fee for Hardware is invoiced upon 

delivery of the hardware. Subsequent annual maintenance fees for hardware are invoiced 
annually, in advance, at then-current rates, upon each anniversary thereof. 

 
3.5 Third Party Services:  Fees for Third Party Services, if any, are invoiced as delivered, along 

with applicable expenses, at the rates set forth in the Investment Summary.  For the 
avoidance of doubt, Finite Matters will invoice Client directly for any services fees for 
Pattern Stream.  

 
3.6 Third Party SaaS:  Third Party SaaS Services fees, if any, are invoiced annually, in advance, 

commencing with availability of the respective Third Party SaaS Services.  Pricing for the first 
year of Third Party SaaS Services is indicated in the Investment Summary. Pricing for 
subsequent years will be at the respective third party’s then-current rates. 

 
4. Transaction Fees.  Unless paid directly by an end user at the time of transaction, per transaction 

(call, message, etc.) fees are invoiced on a quarterly basis.  Fees are indicated in Exhibit A and 
may be increased by Tyler upon notice of no less than thirty (30) days. 
 

5. Expenses.  The service rates in the Investment Summary do not include travel expenses.  
Expenses for Tyler delivered services will be billed as incurred and only in accordance with our 

47



then-current Business Travel Policy, plus a 10% travel agency processing fee.  Our current 
Business Travel Policy is attached to this Exhibit B as Schedule 1.  Copies of receipts will be 
provided upon request; we reserve the right to charge you an administrative fee depending on 
the extent of your requests.  Receipts for miscellaneous items less than twenty-five dollars and 
mileage logs are not available.   
 

6. Credit for Prepaid Maintenance and Support Fees for Migration Modules.  Client will receive a 
credit for the maintenance and support fees prepaid for the Migration Modules for the time 
period commencing on the first day of the initial term, as set forth in Section F (1) of this 
Agreement.  Migration Modules are listed at Exhibit A, Schedule 1. 

 
Payment.  Payment for undisputed invoices is due within forty-five (45) days of the invoice date.  We 
prefer to receive payments electronically.  Our electronic payment information is available by contacting 
AR@tylertech.com.  

48

mailto:AR@tylertech.com


 
 

Exhibit B 
Schedule 1 

Business Travel Policy 
 
 

1. Air Travel  
  

A. Reservations & Tickets  
  

The Travel Management Company (TMC) used by Tyler will provide an employee with a direct flight 
within two hours before or after the requested departure time, assuming that flight does not add 
more than three hours to the employee’s total trip duration and the fare is within $100 (each way) 
of the lowest logical fare.  If a net savings of $200 or more (each way) is possible through a 
connecting flight that is within two hours before or after the requested departure time and that 
does not add more than three hours to the employee’s total trip duration, the connecting flight 
should be accepted.    
  
Employees are encouraged to make advanced reservations to take full advantage of discount 
opportunities.  Employees should use all reasonable efforts to make travel arrangements at least 
two (2) weeks in advance of commitments.  A seven (7) day advance booking requirement is 
mandatory.  When booking less than seven (7) days in advance, management approval will be 
required.    
  
Except in the case of international travel where a segment of continuous air travel is six (6) or more 
consecutive hours in length, only economy or coach class seating is reimbursable. Employees shall 
not be reimbursed for “Basic Economy Fares” because these fares are non-refundable and have 
many restrictions that outweigh the cost-savings. 

  
B. Baggage Fees  

  
Reimbursement of personal baggage charges are based on trip duration as follows:  
  

• Up to five (5) days = one (1) checked bag  
• Six (6) or more days = two (2) checked bags  

  
Baggage fees for sports equipment are not reimbursable.  
  

49



2. Ground Transportation  
  

A. Private Automobile  
  

Mileage Allowance – Business use of an employee’s private automobile will be reimbursed at the 
current IRS allowable rate, plus out of pocket costs for tolls and parking.  Mileage will be calculated 
by using the employee's office as the starting and ending point, in compliance with IRS regulations.  
Employees who have been designated a home office should calculate miles from their home.  
 
B. Rental Car  

Employees are authorized to rent cars only in conjunction with air travel when cost, convenience, 
and the specific situation reasonably require their use.  When renting a car for Tyler business, 
employees should select a “mid-size” or “intermediate” car.  “Full” size cars may be rented when 
three or more employees are traveling together.  Tyler carries leased vehicle coverage for business 
car rentals; except for employees traveling to Alaska and internationally (excluding Canada), 
additional insurance on the rental agreement should be declined.  

 
C. Public Transportation  

  
Taxi or airport limousine services may be considered when traveling in and around cities or to and 
from airports when less expensive means of transportation are unavailable or impractical.  The 
actual fare plus a reasonable tip (15-18%) are reimbursable.  In the case of a free hotel shuttle to the 
airport, tips are included in the per diem rates and will not be reimbursed separately.  

  
D. Parking & Tolls  

  
When parking at the airport, employees must use longer term parking areas that are measured in 
days as opposed to hours.  Park and fly options located near some airports may also be used.  For 
extended trips that would result in excessive parking charges, public transportation to/from the 
airport should be considered.  Tolls will be reimbursed when receipts are presented.  

  
3. Lodging  
  

Tyler’s TMC will select hotel chains that are well established, reasonable in price, and conveniently 
located in relation to the traveler's work assignment.  Typical hotel chains include Courtyard, 
Fairfield Inn, Hampton Inn, and Holiday Inn Express.  If the employee has a discount rate with a local 
hotel, the hotel reservation should note that discount and the employee should confirm the lower 
rate with the hotel upon arrival.  Employee memberships in travel clubs such as AAA should be 
noted in their travel profiles so that the employee can take advantage of any lower club rates.   
  
“No shows” or cancellation fees are not reimbursable if the employee does not comply with the 
hotel’s cancellation policy.  
  
Tips for maids and other hotel staff are included in the per diem rate and are not reimbursed 
separately.  
 

50



Employees are not authorized to reserve non-traditional short-term lodging, such as Airbnb, VRBO, 
and HomeAway. Employees who elect to make such reservations shall not be reimbursed. 
  

4. Meals and Incidental Expenses  
  
Employee meals and incidental expenses while on travel status within the continental U.S. are in 
accordance with the federal per diem rates published by the General Services Administration.  
Incidental expenses include tips to maids, hotel staff, and shuttle drivers and other minor travel 
expenses.  Per diem rates are available at www.gsa.gov/perdiem.    
 
Per diem for Alaska, Hawaii, U.S. protectorates and international destinations are provided 
separately by the Department of State and will be determined as required.  
 
A. Overnight Travel  

 
For each full day of travel, all three meals are reimbursable.  Per diems on the first and last day of a 
trip are governed as set forth below.    
 

Departure Day  
  

Depart before 12:00 noon      Lunch and dinner  
Depart after 12:00 noon       
  
Return Day  
  

Dinner  

Return before 12:00 noon      Breakfast  
Return between 12:00 noon & 7:00 p.m.   Breakfast and lunch  
Return after 7:00 p.m.*        Breakfast, lunch and dinner  

  
*7:00 p.m. is defined as direct travel time and does not include time taken to stop for dinner.  
  
The reimbursement rates for individual meals are calculated as a percentage of the full day per diem 
as follows:  
  

 Breakfast  15%  
  Lunch    25%  
  Dinner   60%  

  
B. Same Day Travel  
  
Employees traveling at least 100 miles to a site and returning in the same day are eligible to claim 
lunch on an expense report.  Employees on same day travel status are eligible to claim dinner in the 
event they return home after 7:00 p.m.*  
  
*7:00 p.m. is defined as direct travel time and does not include time taken to stop for dinner.  

51

http://www.gsa.gov/perdiem
http://www.gsa.gov/perdiem
http://www.gsa.gov/perdiem


  
5. Internet Access – Hotels and Airports  

  
Employees who travel may need to access their e-mail at night.  Many hotels provide free high 
speed internet access and Tyler employees are encouraged to use such hotels whenever possible.  If 
an employee’s hotel charges for internet access it is reimbursable up to $10.00 per day.  Charges for 
internet access at airports are not reimbursable.  
  

6. International Travel  
 
All international flights with the exception of flights between the U.S. and Canada should be 
reserved through TMC using the “lowest practical coach fare” with the exception of flights that are 
six (6) or more consecutive hours in length. In such event, the next available seating class above 
coach shall be reimbursed.  
 
When required to travel internationally for business, employees shall be reimbursed for photo fees, 
application fees, and execution fees when obtaining a new passport book, but fees related to 
passport renewals are not reimbursable. Visa application and legal fees, entry taxes and departure 
taxes are reimbursable.  
 
The cost of vaccinations that are either required for travel to specific countries or suggested by the 
U.S. Department of Health & Human Services for travel to specific countries, is reimbursable.  
 
Section 4, Meals & Incidental Expenses, and Section 2.b., Rental Car, shall apply to this section. 

 

52



 
 

Exhibit C 
SERVICE LEVEL AGREEMENT 

 
I.  Agreement Overview 

This SLA operates in conjunction with, and does not supersede or replace any part of, the Agreement.  It 
outlines the information technology service levels that we will provide to you to ensure the availability of 
the application services that you have requested us to provide.  All other support services are documented 
in the Support Call Process.  This SLA does not apply to any Third Party SaaS Services.  All other support 
services are documented in the Support Call Process.   
 
II. Definitions. Except as defined below, all defined terms have the meaning set forth in the 
Agreement. 
 
Actual Attainment: The percentage of time the Tyler Software is available during a calendar month, 
calculated as follows:  (Service Availability – Downtime) ÷ Service Availability. 

Client Error Incident: Any service unavailability resulting from your applications, content or equipment, or 
the acts or omissions of any of your service users or third-party providers over whom we exercise no 
control.   

Downtime: Those minutes during Service Availability, as defined below, when all users cannot launch, 
login, search or save primary data in the Tyler Software.  Downtime does not include those instances in 
which only a Defect is present. 

Emergency Maintenance Window: (1) maintenance that is required to patch a critical security 
vulnerability; (2) maintenance that is required to prevent an imminent outage of Service Availability; or 
(3) maintenance that is mutually agreed upon in writing by Tyler and the Client.   

Planned Downtime: Downtime that occurs during a Standard or Emergency Maintenance window. 

Service Availability:  The total number of minutes in a calendar month that the Tyler Software is capable 
of receiving, processing, and responding to requests, excluding Planned Downtime, Client Error Incidents, 
denial of service attacks and Force Majeure.  Service Availability only applies to Tyler Software being used 
in the live production environment. 

Standard Maintenance: Routine maintenance to the Tyler Software and infrastructure.  Standard 
Maintenance is limited to five (5) hours per week.  

 
III.  Service Availability 
 

a. Your Responsibilities 

Whenever you experience Downtime, you must make a support call according to the procedures outlined 
in the Support Call Process.  You will receive a support case number. 

b. Our Responsibilities 

53



When our support team receives a call from you that Downtime has occurred or is occurring, we will work 
with you to identify the cause of the Downtime (including whether it may be the result of Planned 
Downtime, a Client Error Incident, denial of service attack or Force Majeure).  We will also work with you 
to resume normal operations. 

c.  Client Relief 

Our targeted Attainment Goal is 100%.  You may be entitled to credits as indicated in the Client Relief 
Schedule found below.    Your relief credit is calculated as a percentage of the SaaS Fees paid for the 
calendar month.  

In order to receive relief credits, you must submit a request through one of the channels listed in our 
Support Call Process within fifteen days (15) of the end of the applicable month.  We will respond to your 
relief request within thirty (30) day(s) of receipt.   

The total credits confirmed by us will be applied to the SaaS Fee for the next billing cycle.  Issuing of such 
credit does not relieve us of our obligations under the Agreement to correct the problem which created 
the service interruption.   

Credits are only payable when Actual Attainment results in eligibility for credits in consecutive months 
and only for such consecutive months.   

 

Client Relief Schedule 

Actual Attainment Client Relief 

99.99% - 99.70% Remedial action will be taken 

99.69% - 98.50% 2% of SaaS Fees paid for 
applicable month 

98.49% - 97.50% 4% of SaaS Fees paid for 
applicable month 

97.49% - 96.50% 6% of SaaS Fees paid for 
applicable month 

96.49% - 95.50% 8% of SaaS Fees paid for 
applicable month 

Below 95.50% 10% of SaaS Fees paid for 
applicable month 

 

* Notwithstanding language in the Agreement to the contrary, Recovery Point Objective is one (1) hour. 

 

IV. Maintenance Notifications 

We perform Standard Maintenance during limited windows that are historically known to be reliably 
low-traffic times.  If and when maintenance is predicted to occur during periods of higher traffic, we will 
provide advance notice of those windows and will coordinate to the greatest extent possible with you. 
 
Not all maintenance activities will cause application unavailability.  However, if Tyler anticipates that 

54



activities during a Standard or Emergency Maintenance window may make the Tyler Software unavailable, 
we will provide advance notice, as reasonably practicable, that the Tyler Software will be unavailable 
during the maintenance window.   

55



 

Exhibit C 
Schedule 1 

Support Call Process  
 
Support Channels 
 
Tyler Technologies, Inc. provides the following channels of software support for authorized users*:   

(1) On-line submission (portal) – for less urgent and functionality-based questions, users may create 
support incidents through the Tyler Customer Portal available at the Tyler Technologies website.  
A built-in Answer Panel provides users with resolutions to most “how-to” and configuration-
based questions through a simplified search interface with machine learning, potentially 
eliminating the need to submit the support case.  

(2) Email – for less urgent situations, users may submit emails directly to the software support 
group. 

(3) Telephone – for urgent or complex questions, users receive toll-free, telephone software 
support.  
* Channel availability may be limited for certain applications. 

Support Resources 
 
A number of additional resources are available to provide a comprehensive and complete support 
experience:  

(1) Tyler Website – www.tylertech.com – for accessing client tools, documentation, and other 
information including support contact information.  

(2) Tyler Search -a knowledge based search engine that lets you search multiple sources 
simultaneously to find the answers you need, 24x7.  

(3) Tyler Community –provides a venue for all Tyler clients with current maintenance agreements to 
collaborate with one another, share best practices and resources, and access documentation.  

(4) Tyler University – online training courses on Tyler products. 

Support Availability 
 
Tyler Technologies support is available during the local business hours of 8 AM to 5 PM (Monday – 
Friday) across four US time zones (Pacific, Mountain, Central and Eastern). Tyler’s holiday schedule is 
outlined below. There will be no support coverage on these days.  
 

New Year’s Day Labor Day 
Martin Luther King, Jr. Day Thanksgiving Day 
Memorial Day Day after Thanksgiving 
Independence Day Christmas Day 

 
For support teams that provide after-hours service, we will provide you with procedures for contacting 
support staff after normal business hours for reporting Priority Level 1 Defects only. Upon receipt of 

56

http://www.tylertech.com/


such a Defect notification, we will use commercially reasonable efforts to meet the resolution targets 
set forth below.  
 
We will also make commercially reasonable efforts to be available for one pre-scheduled Saturday of 
each month to assist your IT staff with applying patches and release upgrades, as well as consulting with 
them on server maintenance and configuration of the Tyler Software environment. 
 
Incident Handling 
 
Incident Tracking 
 
Every support incident is logged into Tyler’s Customer Relationship Management System and given a 
unique case number. This system tracks the history of each incident. The case number is used to track 
and reference open issues when clients contact support. Clients may track incidents, using the case 
number, through Tyler’s Customer Portal or by calling software support directly.  
 
Incident Priority 
 
Each incident is assigned a priority level, which corresponds to the Client’s needs. Tyler and the Client 
will reasonably set the priority of the incident per the chart below. This chart is not intended to address 
every type of support incident, and certain “characteristics” may or may not apply depending on 
whether the Tyler software has been deployed on customer infrastructure or the Tyler cloud. The goal is 
to help guide the Client towards clearly understanding and communicating the importance of the issue 
and to describe generally expected response and resolution targets in the production environment only. 
 
References to a “confirmed support incident” mean that Tyler and the Client have successfully validated 
the reported Defect/support incident.   
 

Priority 
Level Characteristics of Support Incident Resolution Targets* 

1 
Critical 

Support incident that causes (a) 
complete application failure or 
application unavailability; (b) 
application failure or unavailability in 
one or more of the client’s remote 
location; or (c) systemic loss of 
multiple essential system functions. 

Tyler shall provide an initial response to Priority Level 
1 incidents within one (1) business hour of receipt of 
the incident.  Once the incident has been confirmed, 
Tyler shall use commercially reasonable efforts to 
resolve such support incidents or provide a 
circumvention procedure within one (1) business 
day.  For non-hosted customers, Tyler’s responsibility 
for lost or corrupted data is limited to assisting the 
Client in restoring its last available database. 

57



Priority 
Level Characteristics of Support Incident Resolution Targets* 

2 
High 

Support incident that causes (a) 
repeated, consistent failure of 
essential functionality affecting more 
than one user or (b) loss or corruption 
of data. 

Tyler shall provide an initial response to Priority Level 
2 incidents within four (4) business hours of receipt of 
the incident.  Once the incident has been confirmed, 
Tyler shall use commercially reasonable efforts to 
resolve such support incidents or provide a 
circumvention procedure within ten (10) business 
days.  For non-hosted customers, Tyler’s 
responsibility for loss or corrupted data is limited to 
assisting the Client in restoring its last available 
database. 

3 
Medium 

Priority Level 1 incident with an 
existing circumvention procedure, or 
a Priority Level 2 incident that affects 
only one user or for which there is an 
existing circumvention procedure. 

Tyler shall provide an initial response to Priority Level 
3 incidents within one (1) business day of receipt of 
the incident.  Once the incident has been confirmed, 
Tyler shall use commercially reasonable efforts to 
resolve such support incidents without the need for a 
circumvention procedure with the next published 
maintenance update or service pack, which shall 
occur at least quarterly.  For non-hosted customers, 
Tyler’s responsibility for lost or corrupted data is 
limited to assisting the Client in restoring its last 
available database. 

4 
Non-

critical 

Support incident that causes failure of 
non-essential functionality or a 
cosmetic or other issue that does not 
qualify as any other Priority Level. 

Tyler shall provide an initial response to Priority Level 
4 incidents within two (2) business days of receipt of 
the incident.  Once the incident has been confirmed, 
Tyler shall use commercially reasonable efforts to 
resolve such support incidents, as well as cosmetic 
issues, with a future version release. 

*Response and Resolution Targets may differ by product or business need 
 
Incident Escalation  
 
If Tyler is unable to resolve any priority level 1 or 2 defect as listed above or the priority of an issue has 
elevated since initiation, you may escalate the incident to the appropriate resource, as outlined by each 
product support team.  The corresponding resource will meet with you and any Tyler staff to establish a 
mutually agreeable plan for addressing the defect. 

Remote Support Tool 
 
Some support calls may require further analysis of the Client’s database, processes or setup to diagnose 
a problem or to assist with a question. Tyler will, at its discretion, use an industry-standard remote 
support tool. Tyler’s support team must have the ability to quickly connect to the Client’s system and 
view the site’s setup, diagnose problems, or assist with screen navigation. More information about the 
remote support tool Tyler uses is available upon request.     

58



 
 

 
Exhibit D 

Third Party Terms  
 
 
ThinPrint Terms.  Your use of Tyler Forms software and forms is subject to the End User License 
Agreement terms for ThinPrint Engine, ThinPrint License Server, and Connected Gateway found 
here:  https://www.thinprint.com/en/legal-notes/eula/.  By signing a Tyler Agreement or Order Form, or 
accessing, installing, or using Tyler Forms software or forms, you agree that you have read, understood, 
and agree to such terms.  
 
DocOrigin Terms.  Your use of Tyler Forms so�ware and forms is subject to the DocOrigin End User 
License Agreement available for download here: htps://eclipsecorp.us/eula/.  By signing a Tyler 
Agreement or Order Form including Tyler forms so�ware or forms, or accessing, installing, or using Tyler 
Forms so�ware or forms, you agree that you have read, understood, and agree to such terms. 

Twilio Acceptable Use Policy.  Your use of the Tyler solutions listed below includes functionality provided 
by a Third Party Developer, Twilio.  Your rights, and the rights of any of your end users, to use said 
functionality are subject to the terms of the Twilio Acceptable Use Policy, available 
at http://www.twilio.com/legal/aup.  By signing a Tyler Agreement or Order Form, or accessing, 
installing, or using any such Tyler solution, you certify that you have reviewed, understand and agree to 
said terms. Tyler hereby disclaims any and all liability related to your or your end user’s failure to abide 
by the terms of the Twilio Acceptable Use Policy.  Any liability for failure to abide by said terms shall rest 
solely with the person or entity whose conduct violated said terms. 

• Electronic Warrants 
• Online Dispute Resolution 
• Enterprise Justice Notifications Add On (text notifications) 
• Absence & Substitute 
• Notify 
• Enterprise Jury Manager 
• Enterprise Supervision 
• Virtual Court 

 

59

https://www.thinprint.com/en/legal-notes/eula/
https://eclipsecorp.us/eula/
http://www.twilio.com/legal/aup


 
 

Exhibit E 
Statement of Work 

 
Statement of Work, if applicable, to be inserted prior to Agreement execution. 

60



CHEHALIS CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
AGENDA REPORT 

 
TO:    The Honorable Mayor and City Council 
 
FROM:   Jill Anderson, City Manager 
 
BY:    Brandon Rakes, Airport Director     
 
MEETING OF: December 11, 2023   
 
SUBJECT: Budgeted Purchase of Fuel for Resale  
 
 
ISSUE 
 

The recent invoice from Epic Aviation, LLC, for purchasing and delivering Jet A fuel, has a total 
purchase of $43,472.85. The approved procurement policy for 2023 requires City Council 
approval of purchases over $40,000, even if they are budgeted.  
 
DISCUSSION 
 

Last year, the Chehalis-Centralia Airport successfully completed the installation of new above-
ground fuel storage tanks. The size of the new fuel system is twice that of the old system and 
can hold 12,000 gallons of fuel per tank. Due to this increase, the cost to fill these tanks will be 
greater than it was previously. 
 
The adopted procurement policy put in place in 2023 revised limits on authorized purchase 
amounts. The newly revised limits, combined with the increased price of fuel, and the increased 
quantity of fuel purchased at one time, have resulted in a single fuel purchase for resale 
exceeding normal administrative purchase limits.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
 

The amount of this invoice totals $43,472.85. The purchase of fuel for resale has been budgeted 
for in the 2023 budget. Also, any purchase of fuel for resale has a direct correlation with the 
revenue the Airport will generate.  
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 

It is recommended that the City Council authorize the City Manager to approve payment of the 
invoice from Epic Aviation in the amount of $43,472.85.   
 
SUGGESTED MOTION  
 

I move that the City Council authorize the City Manager to approve payment of the invoice from 
Epic Aviation in the amount of $43,472.85.    

61



62



CHEHALIS CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

AGENDA REPORT 
 
 
TO:    The Honorable Mayor and City Council 
 
FROM:   Jill Anderson, City Manager 
 
BY:    Chun Saul, Finance Director 
     
MEETING OF:  December 11, 2023 
 
SUBJECT:  Ordinance 1077-B, Increasing Utility Tax Rates for Water and Sewer utilities and 

Imposing a New Utility Tax on Stormwater Utility – Repealing Ordinance No. 548-B, 
passed in 1994 – Second and Final Reading 

 
 
ISSUE 
 

On October 26, 2023, a special meeting of the City Council meeting was held to provide an overview of 
the 2024 Preliminary Draft Budget with focus on the General Fund. Staff presented financial data that 
demonstrates that the City’s revenue growth is not keeping up with increasing costs of providing services 
to the community, including police and fire services which represent more than 50% of the City’s General 
Fund expenditures.  There is significant concern that the level of service provided in the 2024 budget 
cannot be sustained without additional revenues going forward. The City Council Budget Committee 
recommended City Council consider an increase to the existing municipal utility tax rates, which is a 
general charge on the utility revenues, not a charge on the specific individual customer.   
 
At the meeting, it was the consensus of the City Council that staff present a proposal in late 2023 to 
increase the municipal utility tax rates, specifically on the water and sewer utilities, as well as new tax levy 
on the stormwater utility.  
 
Ordinance No. 1077-B has been prepared to increase utility tax rates for water and sewer utilities as well 
as authorizing new tax levy on stormwater utility for consideration by the City Council on second of two 
required readings, the first of which occurred on November 27, 2023.  
 
DISCUSSION 
 

Utility Tax Quick Summary:  
 
The utility taxes are imposed upon the income of utility business itself, and not upon the individual utility 
customers. 
 
Any city or town may impose a business and occupation tax upon the income (as defined by local 
ordinance) of public and private utilities providing services within the boundaries of a city, and/or upon 
the city’s own municipal utilities (referred to as a “utility tax”). The statutory authority for the utility tax 
is found in the same place as that for general business licenses and B&O taxes.  
 

63



A city may also levy taxes on revenues generated by the city’s own utility services provided both inside 
and outside the city limits. Maximum tax rate may not exceed 6% for electric, gas, steam, and telephone 
services unless approved by voters. However, there are no limitations on the tax rates for water, sewer, 
solid waste, or stormwater utilities.  
 
Current Chehalis Municipal Code Chapter 5.20 Water and Sewer Utility Use Tax 
 
The city currently imposes 6% utility tax on water and sewer utility business as provided in CMC Chapter 
5.20.010 which states: 

 
5.20.010 Tax levied:  
From and after the first day of January 1993, there is levied upon, and there shall be collected from, 
every person, firm, or corporation, either private or public, engaged in carrying on a water 
distribution utility business and a sewer collection utility business within or partly within the 
corporate limits of the city, a tax equal to six percent of the total gross income from such business. 
[Ord. 548B, 1994]. 
 

Ordinance 1077-B (Utility Tax Rate Increase): 
 
The Ordinance 1077-B proposes increasing the utility tax rates on water and sewer and imposing utility 
tax on the storm and surface water utility, with the rate change effective February 1, 2024*. 
 

*RCW 35.92.460(2)(c) requires disclosure of utility tax change for water, sewer, and stormwater 
through a billing insert, mailer, or other written electronic communication (i.e., city’s own website) 
within thirty days of the effective date of any subsequent tax rate change. If the City Council approves 
the tax rate changes and passes the Ordinance No. 1077 at the second reading on December 11, 2023, 
the effective date of February 1, 2024 would allow the staff time to ensure the required notification 
is provided to utility customers at least 30 days before the change in the utility tax rate. 

 
Staff has prepared two different proposals and the fiscal impact on each proposal as provided below. 
 
Fiscal Impact: 
 
Proposal#1: Increasing the tax rate from 6% to 10% for water and sewer utilities and from 0% to 10% for 
stormwater would provide approximately $409,300 additional utility tax revenue to the city’s General 
Fund in 2024 budget year.  
 

 
 

Utility Business

2024 Budget 
Taxable 
Income

Current 
Tax Rate

2024 Budget 
Utility Tax*

Proposed 
Tax Rate

Estimated Tax 
@ Proposed 

Rate
Tax Increase - 

Full year**

2024 Tax 
Increase (11 
Months)***

Wastewater 5,909,100     6% 354,500        10% 590,900        236,400        216,700        
Water 3,420,600     6% 205,200        10% 342,100        136,900        125,500        
Stormwater 731,900        n/a N/A 10% 73,200          73,190          67,100          
Total 10,061,600    559,700        1,006,200     446,490        409,300        
* 6% on Water & Sewer. No tax on Stormwater
** Rounded to nearest 100's
*** Rate Increase Effective 2/1/2024

64



Proposal#2: Increasing the sewer utility tax rate from 6% to 14%, water utility tax rate from 6% to 10%, 
and storm & surface water utility tax from 0% to 10% would provide approximately $626,000 additional 
utility tax revenue to the city’s General Fund in 2024 budget year. The proposal #2 rates mirror the current 
2023 utility tax rates of the City of Centralia.  
 

 
 
The revenues and expenditures associated with the proposed increases in utility taxes are not included in 
the 2024 Preliminary Budget as submitted. If rate increases are approved, the 2024 Budget will be 
amended in early 2024 to reflect the changes. 
 
2024 Budget and Concerns 
 
The 2024 Preliminary Budget for the General Fund was balanced using $996,439 of beginning reserves. 
The level of staffing and services provided in the 2024 Budget cannot be sustained without additional 
revenues going forward. The challenge is that revenue growth is not keeping up with the increasing costs 
of providing services.  
 
As you are aware, the city’s water, sewer, and stormwater utilities are required to charge utility bills to 
the city’s own departments for the use of the services. These are additional expenditures the General 
Fund did not have prior to 2020. The city’s general fund has paid the City of Chehalis utilities funds a total 
of $512,354 since January 2020 through October 2023: $89,361 in 2020, $132,762 in 2021, $140,177 in 
2022, and $150,053 in 2023 through October 2023  
 
Using the assumptions that the annual increase in both revenues and expenditures will be 2% from the 
2024 Budget projections (except about 5% increase in payroll costs in 2025 due to the collective bargaining 
agreements in effect), the General Fund’s revenue deficiencies are projected at about $1.4 million each 
year for years 2025-2027. Without additional revenues, the General Fund is expected to have a negative 
fund balance as early as 2025.  

Utility Business

2024 Budget 
Taxable 
Income

Current 
Tax Rate

2024 Budget 
Utility Tax*

Proposed 
Tax Rate

Estimated Tax 
@ Proposed 

Rate
Tax Increase - 

Full year**

2024 Tax 
Increase (11 
Months)***

Wastewater 5,909,100     6% 354,500        14% 827,300        472,800        433,400        
Water 3,420,600     6% 205,200        10% 342,100        136,900        125,500        
Stormwater 731,900        n/a N/A 10% 73,200          73,190          67,100          
Total 10,061,600    559,700        1,242,600     682,890        626,000        
* 6% on Water & Sewer. No tax on Stormwater
^̂  10% on Water & Storm & Surface Water and 14% on Sewer
*** Rate Increase Effective 2/1/2024

65



 
 

 
 
In order to maintain the current level of service, including police and fire services which represent more 
than 50% of the City’s General Fund expenditures, it is recommended that the City Council approve one 
of the two proposals to increase the Utility Tax.  Proposal #2 would align Chehalis rates with the City of 
Centralia; provide additional revenue that is not as sensitive to recessionary pressure; and allow the City 
more time to evaluate other options for increasing revenues and/or reducing services as it monitors 2024 
revenues. 

66



RECOMMENDATION 

It is recommended that the City Council approve the rate changes of Proposal #2 and pass Ordinance 
1077-B on the Second and Final reading.   

SUGGESTED MOTION 

I move that the City Council approve the rate changes of Proposal #2 and pass Ordinance 1077-B on the 
Second and Final reading. 

67



68



ORDINANCE NO. 1077-B 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF CHEHALIS, 
WASHINGTON, CREATING AND IMPOSING A UTILITY 
TAX ON EVERY PERSON, FIRM, OR CORPORATION 
ENGAGED IN CARRYNG ON A WATER, SEWER, AND 
STORM AND SURFACE WATER UTILITY BUSINESS   
WITHIN OR PARTLY WITHIN THE CORPORATE LIMITS 
OF THE CITY OF CHEHALIS, WASHINGTON; AND 
REPEALING ORDINANCE NO. 548-B PASSED THE 27TH 
DAY OF JUNE 1994, CODIFIED IN THE CHEHALIS 
MUNICIPAL CODE AS SECTION 5.20.010, .020, .030, 040. 
 

THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CHEHALIS, WASHINGTON, DOES 
ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1. From and after the 1st day of February, 2024, there is levied upon, and there 
shall be collected from, every person, firm, or corporation, either private or public, engaged in 
carrying on a water distribution utility business; a sewer collection and treatment, or either, utility 
business; and a storm and surface water utility business within or partly within the corporate limits 
of the city of Chehalis, Washington, a tax equal to the stated  percent (%) of the total gross income 
from such business as follows: 

Utility Business            Tax Rate 
A. Sewer Utility       14% 
B. Water Utility       10% 
C. Storm & Surface Water Utility    10% 

Section 2. All payments of the utility tax imposed by this Ordinance shall be made by the 
water, sewer, and storm and surface water utility company to the city on a quarterly basis within 
forty-five (45) days of the last day of the quarters ending on March 31, June 30, September 30, 
and December 31 in each year. 

Section 3. The city shall have the right to inspect all records of any and all water, sewer, 
and storm and surface water utility companies serving the city to verify amounts due under the 
utility tax ordinance and the right to audit and recompute any and all amounts payable under this 
provision. The city may require that any reports of financial statements resulting from such audit 
or recomputation be certified by the chief financial officer or a certified public accountant retained 
by the person, firm, or corporation engaged in the carrying on of a water, sewer, and storm and 
surface water utility business. 

Section 4. Any said person, firm, or corporation subject to this Chapter CMC 5.20 who 
shall fail or refuse to make said tax returns or to pay said use tax when due, or who shall make any 
false statement or representation in or in connection with any such tax return, or shall otherwise 
violate or refuse or fail to comply with this Chapter, shall be guilty of a misdemeanor and, upon 
conviction thereof, shall be punished by a fine not to exceed One Thousand Dollars ($1,000.00), 
or by imprisonment in the Lewis County Jail for a term not to exceed ninety (90) days, or by both. 

69



No imposition of punishment shall abrogate the requirement to pay the taxes owed to the City. In 
addition to the punishment imposed herein, the City shall have the right to pursue payment of the 
taxes in any lawful manner.   

Section 5: A referendum petition may be filed within seven days of passage of this 
ordinance with the City Clerk, the filing officer. Within ten days, the filing officer shall confer 
with the petitioner concerning form and style of the petition, issue the petition an identification 
number, and secure an accurate, concise, and positive ballot title from the designated local official. 
The petitioner shall have thirty days in which to secure the signatures of not less than fifteen 
percent of the registered voters of the city, as of the last municipal general election, upon petition 
forms which contain the ballot title and the full text of the measure to be referred. The filing officer 
shall verify the sufficiency of the signatures on the petition and, if sufficient valid signatures are 
properly submitted, shall certify the referendum measure to the next election ballot within the city 
or at a special election ballot.    

Section 6. Ordinance No. 548-B, passed the 27th day of June 1994, codified in the Chehalis 
Municipal Code as Section 5.20, shall be, and the same hereby is, repealed. 

Section 7. Section 1 shall be codified as Chehalis Municipal Code (“CMC”) 5.20.010 Tax 
Levied; Section 2 shall be codified as CMC 5.20.020 When Payable; Section 3 shall be codified 
as CMC 5.20.030 Inspection of Records; Section 4 shall be codified as CMC 5.20.040. This 
ordinance is intended to replace the prior-existing CMC 5.20 chapter.   

Section 8. Effective Date. The effective date of this ordinance shall be the ___ day of 
_____________, 2023. 

PASSED by the City Council of the City of Chehalis, Washington, and APPROVED by 
its Mayor, at a regularly scheduled open public meeting thereof this _______ day of ___________, 
2023. 

 
 
______________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 
 
 
_______________________ 
City Clerk 
 
 
Approved as to form and content: 
 
 
_______________________ 
City Attorney 

70



CHEHALIS CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
AGENDA REPORT 

 
TO:    The Honorable Mayor and City Council 
 
FROM:   Jill Anderson, City Manager 
 
BY:    Brandon Rakes, Airport Director     
 
MEETING OF: December 11, 2023   
 
SUBJECT: Resolution No. 20-2023, Declaring Real Property of the City of Chehalis to be 

Surplus to Certain Enterprise Funds, and Directing the Transfer Thereof to the 
Airport Fund (First and Final Reading) 

 
 
ISSUE 
The City of Chehalis Water and Wastewater owns a parcel of property and associated 
structures commonly known as 3110 Airport Road, Chehalis, WA (assessor’s parcel no. 
021612001002). This property is located adjoining the northeast corner of the Chehalis-
Centralia Airport. This property was purchased as a potential site for future City utility 
infrastructure development. However, no development has taken place or is currently planned 
on this site. 
 
The City Council held a public hearing on November 27, 2023, to receive public comment as 
required by RCW 35A.11.010 for the surplus of real property. During the public hearing City 
Counselors for the City of Chehalis raised questions about the Wastewater Department holding 
the property or the General Fund acquiring it. Those questions are addressed toward the end 
of the report in a section with the title “Does the Airport Need to Own the Property?”  
 
DISCUSSION 
The property, commonly known as the Barnes Property, was purchased by the City of 
Chehalis in November 2001 with the intention of possibly building the future wastewater 
treatment plant on that site. Another location was acquired for the treatment plant, leaving 
the Barnes Property vacant. A portion of the land, totaling approximately 15.3 acres, was 
sold in 2005 to the Pehl Group for the development of an auto dealership. The price paid by 
the Pehl Group included the City providing infrastructure and utilities for Louisiana Avenue to 
serve the site. 
 
RCW 35A.11.010 authorizes the disposal of real and personal property. 
 
“by and through its legislative body, such municipality may contract and be contracted 
with; may purchase, lease, receive, or otherwise acquire real and personal property of every 
kind, and use, enjoy, hold, lease, control, convey or otherwise dispose of it for the common 
benefit.” 
 

71



Transferring this property to the Chehalis-Centralia Airport is rooted in optimizing 
resources, enhancing operational efficiency, a n d  the overall benefit to our community's 
water management, wastewater management, and aviation sectors. The following list of 
itemized benefits will provide further information. 
 

1. Optimal Land Use: The Barnes Property, currently under the City of Chehalis Water 
and Wastewater Department, possesses characteristics that make it highly 
suitable for aviation-related purposes. By transferring the property to the Chehalis-
Centralia Airport, the City can ensure optimal land use that aligns with the Airport's 
expansion plans, fostering the growth of aviation within our community or 
further commercial development. 

2. Facilitated Infrastructure Development:  The transfer will help expedite the 
development of critical infrastructure for the Chehalis-Centralia Airport. This 
may include constructing additional apron space, non-aeronautical commercial 
development, and other infrastructure necessary for airport operations' 
smooth functioning and expansion. Such developments contribute directly to 
economic growth and job creation in the region. 

3. Economic Stimulus and Job Creation: The expansion of the Chehalis-Centralia 
Airport resulting from the acquisition of the Barnes Property is expected to stimulate 
economic growth in the region. The increased airport capacity will attract more 
aviation-related businesses, create job opportunities, and contribute to the economic 
well-being of our community. 

4. Environmental Considerations: The transfer aligns with environmental 
considerations by allowing the City of Chehalis Water and Wastewater Departments 
to focus on their core responsibilities without needing significant land management 
efforts. Additionally, the airport’s expansion plans can be designed and implemented 
with due consideration for environmental sustainability and compliance. 

5. Financial Benefits: The transfer of the Barnes Property will result in long-term 
financial benefits for the City. The economic contributions from a thriving airport, 
including tax-related revenue and potential grants for aviation development, can 
positively impact the City’s fiscal health. 

 
Transferring the Barnes Property from the City of Chehalis Wastewater Department to the 
Chehalis-Centralia Airport is a strategic decision that promises to yield substantial benefits 
for the community. This move is aligned with a  vision for sustainable growth, 
improved infrastructure, and enhanced economic vitality. 
 
 
DOES THE AIRPORT NEED TO OWN THE PROPERTY? 
At the November 27, 2023, Public Hearing, questions were raised about whether or not it 
would be valuable for the Utility to retain ownership and lease the property to the airport or 
have the General Fund purchase the property.  In both proposals, the purpose would be to 
generate revenue for the respective funds.  The challenge is that the property has significant 
development limitations, which compromise the ability to raise sufficient revenue to offset the 
cost of purchase in the case of the General Fund, and/or the administrative costs of leasing the 
management of the property to the Airport, which would need to be paid for the service 
without much potential for leasing it to the private sector.  
 

72



The first limitation is that the Barnes Property is the primary role the property plays in water 
management for the Chehalis-Centralia Airport and the commercial properties located in the 
immediate vicinity. Without this property, water from heavy precipitation and runoff would 
likely inundate the Airport frequently at levels undesirable for current or future operations and 
development. Much of the Barnes Property is listed on the Airport’s Stormwater Pollution 
Prevention Plan (SWPPP) as Seasonally Flooded, Saturated, Occasionally Flooded, or within a 
150-foot Offset of such areas.  
 
The Barnes Property has severe development limitations compared to other commercial 
properties located adjacent to the airport. These limitations mean the property cannot be 
marketed or developed in the same manner as the adjacent properties.  
 
However, the strategic areas that can be developed on this property by working around the 
wetlands will likely have a significant aeronautical purpose and benefit. Examples of projects 
that could benefit the Airport include aircraft or vehicle parking and a solar array to provide 
energy offsets for the Airport to meet the 2050 target of net zero that the Federal Government 
announced in April of 2022.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
The amount of this transfer from the Airport Fund to the Water and Wastewater 
Department Funds totals $316,957.00. This has been budgeted for in the 2024 budget. This 
is the carrying book value as determined by the City’s Finance Director. The City’s Water Fund 
will receive $165,480.00 and the City’s Wastewater Fund will receive 151,477.00. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
It is recommended that the City Council: 
1) Waive the City Council rule requiring two readings of a Resolution regarding a matter 

having a significant budget impact; and  
2) Approve Resolution No. 20-2023 on First and Final reading to authorize the transfer of 

$165,480.00 to the Water Fund and $151,477.00 to the Wastewater Fund from the Airport 
Fund for a total transfer of $316,957.00 to execute the transfer of the Barnes property to 
the Chehalis-Centralia Airport.  
 

SUGGESTED MOTION 

I move that the City Council:  
1) Waive the City Council rule requiring two readings of a Resolution regarding a matter having 

a significant budget impact; and  
2) Approve Resolution No. 20-2023 on First and Final reading to authorize the transfer of 

$165,480.00 to the Water Fund and $151,477.00 to the Wastewater Fund from the Airport 
Fund for a total transfer of $316,957.00 to execute the transfer of the Barnes property to 
the Chehalis-Centralia Airport.  
 

73



74



75



76



77



78



79



80



81



82



83



84



85



86



RESOLUTION NO. 20-2023 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF CHEHALIS, 
WASHINGTON, DECLARING REAL PROPERTY OF THE 
CITY OF CHEHALIS TO BE SURPLUS TO CERTAIN 
ENTERPRISE FUNDS, AND DIRECTING THE TRANSFER 
THEREOF TO THE AIRPORT FUND. 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Chehalis (“City”) owns a parcel of real property and associated 
structures commonly known as 3110 Airport Road, Chehalis, WA (assessor’s parcel no. 
021612001002, hereinafter referred to as the “Property”) in the Water and Wastewater Funds; 
and 
 
WHEREAS, the Chehalis-Centralia Airport (Airport Fund) desires the property for the purpose 
of future development and expansion and to ensure compatible land use for the future; and 
 
WHEREAS, the purpose of declaring the property surplus is to transfer the property from the 
Water and Wastewater enterprise fund to the Airport Fund; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Council of the City of Chehalis has considered the nature of the City’s interest 
in the Property and potential terms of its sale or transfer; and 
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to law, the City of Chehalis has the authority to transfer City-owned real 
property for the common benefit; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council hereby formally finds that the Property is surplus to the needs of 
the City’s Water and Wastewater Funds and not required for continued provision of public utility 
services; and 
 
WHEREAS, the property has been valued using the carrying book value; and 
 
WHEREAS, a full public hearing was properly noticed and had prior to the vote by the Council 
on this resolution;   
 
 NOW, THEREFORE THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CHEHALIS, 
WASHINGTON, DOES RESOLVE AS FOLLOWS: 
 

Section 1. The following described real property of the city of Chehalis, Washington, a 
municipal corporation, shall be, and the same hereby is, declared to be surplus and no longer of 
necessary use for the provision of public utility services via the Water and/or Wastewater Funds. 
 

87



 
Section 2. The City Council Authorizes the City administration to transfer the Property 

from the Water Fund and the Wastewater Fund to the Airport Fund. 
  
Section 3. The carrying book value of the property is THREE HUNDRED SIXTEEN 

THOUSAND, NINE HUNDRED FIFTY-SEVEN DOLLARS EXACTLY ($316,957.00). All 
necessary accounting shall be done by the finance department to ensure proper compliance with 
enterprise fund balance requirements.  

 
Section 4. Any resolutions or parts of resolutions in conflict herewith are hereby repealed 

insofar they conflict with the provisions of this resolution. 
 
Section 5. If any section, subsection, sentence, clause or phrase of this Resolution is for 

any reason held to be invalid or unconstitutional, such decisions shall not affect the validity of 
the remaining portions of this Resolution. The Council hereby declares that it would have passed 
this code and each section, subsection, sentence, clause and phrase thereof, irrespective of the 
fact that any one or more sections, subsection, sentences, clauses or phrases has been declared 
invalid or unconstitutional, and if, for any reason, this resolution should be declared invalid or 
unconstitutional, then the original Resolution or Resolutions shall be in full force and effect.  
 

Section 5. This resolution shall be in full force and effect upon passage.  
 
 ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Chehalis, Washington, and APPROVED 
at a regularly scheduled open public meeting thereof this ____day of ________, 2023. 
 
 
       ______________________________ 
                  Mayor 
Attest: 
 
______________________________ 
Kassi Mackie, City Clerk 
 
 
Approved as to form and content: 
 
 
______________________________ 
Kevin T. Nelson, City Attorney 

  

• See Exhibit A 

88



Lewis County GIS Web Map

Parcels

11/22/2023, 4:10:15 AM

© Lewis County GIS

0 1,600 3,200800 ft

1:18,056

!I
NAD 1983 StatePlane Washington South FIPS 4602 Feet

Lewis County does not guarantee the accuracy of the information shown on this map and is not responsible for any use or
misuse by others regarding this material. It is provided for general informational purposes only. This map does not meet
legal, engineering, or survey standards. Please practice due diligence and consult with licensed experts before making
decisions. 89



90



91



92



93



94



95



96



CHEHALIS CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
AGENDA REPORT 

 
TO:     The Honorable Mayor and City Council 

FROM:   Jill Anderson, City Manager 
 
BY:   Lance Bunker, Public Works Director 
   Celest Wilder, Capital Improvement Project Manager 
 
MEETING OF:      December 11, 2023 
 
SUBJECT:  Ordinance No. 1086-B, Amending Chehalis Municipal Code, Chapter 

12.04 Engineering Development Code, Sections 12.04.080 Changes to 
Standards, and 12.04.110 Requirements. 

  
 
ISSUE 
 
In the special City Council Meeting of September 18, 2023, staff presented and spoke on the 
process used to determine when frontage improvements for new development and re-
development projects are required by code.  The City Council provided direction to draft 
proposed amendments to the municipal code to provide greater clarity in determining whether 
frontage improvements are or are not required in new development and re-development 
projects. These proposed code amendments were taken to the Growth Management 
Committee. 
 
During the Growth Management Committee meeting of October 2, 2023, the committee 
deliberated upon the proposed amendments to Chehalis Municipal Code 12.04.080 and 
12.04.110. The aim of these code amendments is to provide clarity regarding procedures for 
both new development and re-development and ventures that necessitate frontage 
improvements. Following thorough discussion, the committee reached a consensus on the 
proposed changes and determined advancement of recommendations to the City Council. 
 
In the regular City Council Meeting of October 9, 2023, city staff presented issues with existing 
conflicting municipal code language in Engineering Development Code sections 12.04.080 and 
12.04.110. City Council provided direction to move forward with proposed revisions to both 
12.04.080 and 12.04.110.  
 
Chehalis Municipal Code 12.04.080 offers broad latitude for the Public Works Director to 
change and approve engineering code updates without council approval and knowledge at any 
time, so long as the changes were discussed in an open public forum.  
 

97



Section 12.04.110 contains conflicts within portions of its provisions.  These proposed 
alterations are intended to bring greater clarity to discerning which projects trigger mandatory 
frontage improvements and which projects will have the option to apply for deferral. 
 
Municipal Code changes are required to be processed through non-project SEPA review, per 
WAC 19-11-060. A completed SEPA checklist was submitted to Building and Planning on 
October 20, 2023, under application number, SEPA-23-005. A Determination of Non-
Significance was issued by the SEPA Responsible Official on November 27, 2023. The required 
two-week appeal period for SEPA decisions expired December 11, 2023, at 5:00 pm. Hearing no 
appeals of decision, this non-project action can move forward for consideration by the City 
Council. 
 
PROPOSED CHANGES TO THE MUNICIPAL CODE 
 
Changes to Chehalis Municipal Code are proposed as follows:  
 
• Chehalis Municipal Code 12.04.080- Change to Standards 
Amend code 12.04.080, so that all changes to engineering development code are presented to 
City Council for consideration during open and public, scheduled city council meetings.  
 
Chehalis Municipal Code 12.04.080 currently reads:  

“From time to time, changes may be needed to add, delete, or modify the provisions of 
these standards. These standards may be changed and, upon approval of the director of 
public works, will become effective and will be incorporated into the existing provisions. 
All changes to the standards will be presented and discussed in an open public forum.” 
[Ord. 785B § 14 (1.04), 2005.] 

 
Proposed Amendment: 

“From time to time, changes may be needed to add, delete, or modify the provisions of 
these standards. These standards may be changed and, upon approval of the director of 
public works City Council, will be incorporated into the existing provisions. All changes to 
the standards engineering development standards will be presented for consideration 
and discussed during an open public forum, public, scheduled City Council meeting.” 

 
• Chehalis Municipal Code 12.04.110- Requirements 
Staff proposes to amend portions of code 12.04.110 to provide greater clarity where the 
required installation of mandatory frontage improvements occur because of new development 
or re-development. 
 
Chehalis Municipal Code 12.04.110(A)(2) currently reads: 

“Select areas of the city are designated for the mandatory installation of frontage 
improvements with any development or redevelopment project. Other areas of the city 
have been identified for deferral of frontage improvements. These specific designations 
are identified below.” 

98



 
Proposed Amendment: 

“Select areas of the city are designated for the mandatory installation of frontage 
improvements with any development or redevelopment project. Other areas of the city 
have been identified, may apply for deferral of frontage improvements. These specific 
designations are identified below.” 

 
Chehalis Municipal Code 12.04.110(B)(1) currently reads: 

“The installation of sidewalk, curb and gutter will be required of all development projects 
on the following streets: 

a. Cascade Avenue 
b. Chamber of Commerce Way 
c. Interstate Avenue 
d. Louisiana Avenue 
e. Market Boulevard 
f. Mills Avenue 
g. Newaukum Avenue (from Riverside Drive to city limits) 
h. Parkland Drive 
i. Riverside Drive (from Highway 6 to Newaukum Avenue) 
j. State Avenue (from Chamber of Commerce Way to West Street) 
k. 13th St (from Parkland Drive to Market Boulevard) 
l. 20th Street 
m. National Avenue 
n. Kresky Avenue “ 

 
Proposed Amendment: 

The installation of sidewalk, curb and gutter will be required of all development projects 
on the following streets: 

a. Cascade Avenue 
b. Chamber of Commerce Way 
c. Interstate Avenue 
d. Louisiana Avenue 
e. Market Boulevard 
f. Mills Avenue 
g. Newaukum Avenue (from Riverside Drive to city limits) 
h. Parkland Drive 
i. Riverside Drive (from Highway 6 to Newaukum Avenue) 
j. State Avenue (from Chamber of Commerce Way to West Street) 
k. 13th St (from Parkland Drive to Market Boulevard) 
l. 20th Street 
m. National Avenue 
n. Kresky Avenue  
o. All WSDOT functionally classified Arterial and Collector roads 

 

99



Roads currently mapped by WSDOT that do not appear on the list above are Bishop Road, 
Jackson Highway, Maurin Road, and Rush Road. As other roads are added to this map, they will 
be added to the mandatory frontage improvement list by default, as they are contained within 
CMC 12.04.110(B)(1)(o) 
 
Chehalis Municipal Code 12.04.110(B)(3) currently reads: 
“Sidewalk, curb and gutter installation will be deferred for development projects along all other 
streets in the city unless one of the following criteria exists:” 
 
Proposed Amendment: 
Sidewalk, curb and gutter installation will may be deferred for development projects along all 
other streets in the city unless one of the following criteria exists: 
 
Chehalis Municipal Code 12.04.110(C)(1) currently reads: 
“The installation of streetlights will be required of all development projects with frontage on the 
following streets: 

a. Chamber of Commerce Way 
b. Interstate Avenue 
c. Louisiana Avenue 
d. Main Street 
e. Market Boulevard 
f. Newaukum Avenue (from Riverside Drive to city limits) 
g. Parkland Drive 
h. Riverside Drive (from  Highway 6 to Newaukum Avenue) 
i. State Avenue (from Chamber of Commerce way to West Street) 
j. 13th Street (from Parkland Drive to Market Boulevard) 
k. National Avenue 
l. Kresky Avenue” 

 
Proposed Amendment: 
The installation of streetlights will be required of all development projects with frontage on the 
following streets: 

a. Chamber of Commerce Way 
b. Interstate Avenue 
c. Louisiana Avenue 
d. Main Street 
e. Market Boulevard 
f. Newaukum Avenue (from Riverside Drive to city limits) 
g. Parkland Drive 
h. Riverside Drive (from Highway 6 to Newaukum Avenue) 
i. State Avenue (from Chamber of Commerce way to West Street) 

100



j. 13th Street (from Parkland Drive to Market Boulevard) 
k. National Avenue 
l. Kresky Avenue 
m.  All WSDOT functionally classified Arterial and Collector roads 

 
Roads currently mapped by WSDOT that do not appear on the list above are Bishop Road, 
Jackson Highway, Maurin Road, and Rush Road. As other roads are added to this map, they will 
be added to the mandatory frontage improvement list by default, as they are contained within 
CMC 12.04.110(C)(1)(m). 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 

There is no cost associate with the changes recommended.  
 
RECOMMENDATION 

It is recommended that the City Council 
 

1) Waive the City Council rule requiring two readings of an Ordinance; and  
2) Approve Ordinance No. 1086-B, adopting the proposed amendments to Chehalis 

Municipal Code Chapter 12.04.080 and 12.04.110 on First and Final Reading.  
  
SUGGESTED MOTION 

I move that the City Council: 
 

1) Waive the City Council rule requiring two readings of an Ordinance; and  
2) Approve Ordinance No. 1086-B, adopting the proposed amendments to Chehalis 

Municipal Code Chapter 12.04.080 and 12.04.110 on First and Final Reading. 
 
 
 
 

101



102



ORDINANCE NO. 1086-B 
 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF CHEHALIS, 
WASHINGTON, AMENDING SECTIONS 12.04.080 AND 
12.04.110 OF THE CHEHALIS MUNICIPAL CODE 
CONCERNING FRONTAGE IMPROVEMENT 
REQUIREMENTS FOR NEW DEVELOPMENT AND RE-
DEVELOPMENT 
 
 

 WHEREAS, code cities may edit ordinances per RCW 35.21.500(1), to the extent 
deemed necessary or desirable, for the purpose of modernizing and clarifying the language of 
such ordinances, but without changing the meaning of any such ordinance; and, 
 
 WHEREAS, to maintain continuity in code language and editing procedure; and, 
  
 WHEREAS, SEPA review has been completed per WAC 19-11-060; and, 
  
 WHEREAS, no appeals were received during the required appeal window, 
 
 THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CHEHALIS, WASHINGTON, DO ORDAIN AS 
FOLLOWS: 

 Section 1. Section 12.04.080 of the Chehalis Municipal Code shall be, and the same hereby are 
amended to read as follows: 

 
12.04.080 Changes to standards. 

From time to time, changes may be needed to add, delete, or modify the provisions of these 
standards. These standards may be changed and, upon approval of City Council, will be 
incorporated into the existing provisions. All changes to engineering development standards will 
be presented for consideration and discussed during an open, public, scheduled City Council 
meeting. 

 Section 2. Section 12.04.110(A)(2) of the Chehalis Municipal Code shall be, and the same hereby 
are amended to read as follows: 

12.04.110(A)(2) Select areas are designated for the mandatory installation of frontage 
improvements with any development or redevelopment project. Other areas identified may apply 
for deferral of frontage improvements. These specific designations are identified below. 

103



  

 Section 3. Section 12.04.110(B)(1) of the Chehalis Municipal Code shall be, and the same hereby 
are amended to read as follows: 

12.04.110(B)(1) The installation of sidewalk, curb and gutter will be required of all development 
projects on the following streets: 

 a. Cascade Avenue 

 b. Chamber of Commerce Way 

 c. Interstate Avenue 

 d. Louisiana Avenue 

 e. Market Boulevard 

 f. Mills Avenue 

 g. Newaukum Avenue (from Riverside Drive to city limits) 

 h. Parkland Drive 

 i. Riverside Drive (from Highway 6 to Newaukum Avenue) 

 j. State Avenue (from Chamber of Commerce Way to West Street) 

 k. 13th St (from Parkland Drive to Market Boulevard) 

 l. 20th Street 

 m. National Avenue 

 n. Kresky Avenue 

 o. All WSDOT functionally classified Arterial and Collector Roads 

 
 

Section 4. Section 12.04.110(B)(3) of the Chehalis Municipal Code shall be, and the same hereby 
are amended to read as follows: 

 

104



12.04.110(B)(3) Sidewalk, curb and gutter installation may be deferred for development projects 
along all other streets unless one of the following criteria exists: 

Section 5. Section 12.04.110(C)(1) of the Chehalis Municipal Code shall be, and the same hereby 
are amended to read as follows: 

12.04.110(C)(1) The installation of streetlights will be required of all development projects with 
frontage on the following streets: 

a. Cascade Avenue

b. Chamber of Commerce Way

c. Interstate Avenue

d. Louisiana Avenue

e. Market Boulevard

f. Mills Avenue

g. Newaukum Avenue (from Riverside Drive to city limits)

h. Parkland Drive

i. Riverside Drive (from Highway 6 to Newaukum Avenue)

j. State Avenue (from Chamber of Commerce Way to West Street)

k. 13th St (from Parkland Drive to Market Boulevard)

l. 20th Street

m. National Avenue

n. Kresky Avenue

o. All WSDOT functionally classified Arterial and Collector Roads

105



 Section 6.  The effective date of this ordinance shall be the_____ day of ____________, 
2024. 
 
 PASSED by the City Council of the city of Chehalis, Washington, and APPROVED by 
its Mayor at a regularly scheduled open public meeting thereof this_____ day of __________, 
2024. 
 
        ______________________________ 

Anthony Ketchum, Mayor 
 
 
Attest: 
 
_____________________________ 
Kassi Mackie, City Clerk 
 
 
Approved as to form and content: 
  
 
______________________________ 
Kevin T. Nelson, City Attorney 
 

106


	8.      City Council Regular Meeting Minutes 11.27
	9.     11-30-2023  Vouchers Accts Payable - Agenda Report
	10.     Payroll Agenda 11-30-23
	11.     Cancel 2nd Dec Mtg - Agenda Report
	12.     AG Rpt John Deer Mower WAM-revised final - Revised 12-5-23
	12.a  Final John Deere WAM Lease Terms
	13.     Tyler Technololgies SaaS Agreement - Agenda Report
	13a.    Tyler Technololgies EERP ETA 12.5.23 -UB as Optional
	13b.    Tyler Technolgies - Chehalis WA Agreement Evergreen Migration SaaS 120423 -DRAFT - CS Comments
	Support Channels
	Support Resources

	Support Availability
	Incident Handling
	Incident Tracking
	Incident Priority
	*Response and Resolution Targets may differ by product or business need
	Incident Escalation
	Remote Support Tool


	14.      Agenda Report 12-11-2023 Fuel Purchase
	15.       Agenda Report - ORD 1077-B - Utility Tax Rate Increase - Second Reading
	CHEHALIS CITY COUNCIL MEETING

	15a.     Ordinance No. 1077-B Utility Tax - Second reading  KTNelson 12-5-23 final
	ORDINANCE NO. 1077-B

	16.      Agenda Report 12-11-2023 Barnes Property Transfer
	ISSUE
	DISCUSSION
	FISCAL IMPACT
	RECOMMENDATION
	It is recommended that the City Council:
	1) Waive the City Council rule requiring two readings of a Resolution regarding a matter having a significant budget impact; and
	2) Approve Resolution No. 20-2023 on First and Final reading to authorize the transfer of $165,480.00 to the Water Fund and $151,477.00 to the Wastewater Fund from the Airport Fund for a total transfer of $316,957.00 to execute the transfer of the Bar...
	SUGGESTED MOTION
	1) Waive the City Council rule requiring two readings of a Resolution regarding a matter having a significant budget impact; and
	2) Approve Resolution No. 20-2023 on First and Final reading to authorize the transfer of $165,480.00 to the Water Fund and $151,477.00 to the Wastewater Fund from the Airport Fund for a total transfer of $316,957.00 to execute the transfer of the Bar...

	16a.     Barnes Property Related Costs - Chun's Review - final v.3
	20231130160608773
	Barnes Property Related Costs - Chun's Review - final v.3

	16b.     Barnes Resolution 20-2023 Transfer of Barnes to Airport -  Updated 10-16-2023 by KTNelson (002)
	16c.      Barnes Property Aerial Map 2023
	16d.     Barnes Property Supporting Docs-Arkansas Way west ROW dedication legal descriptions
	16e.      Barnes LE27950 MAP
	16f.
	17.     Agenda Report CMC12.04 Engineering Development Code Amendments CW CHANGES DRAFT 12-6-23
	RECOMMENDATION
	It is recommended that the City Council
	1) Waive the City Council rule requiring two readings of an Ordinance; and
	2) Approve Ordinance No. 1086-B, adopting the proposed amendments to Chehalis Municipal Code Chapter 12.04.080 and 12.04.110 on First and Final Reading.
	SUGGESTED MOTION
	I move that the City Council:
	1) Waive the City Council rule requiring two readings of an Ordinance; and
	2) Approve Ordinance No. 1086-B, adopting the proposed amendments to Chehalis Municipal Code Chapter 12.04.080 and 12.04.110 on First and Final Reading.

	17a.   Ordinance 1086-B 12.04 Engineering Development Code Amendments DRAFT CW 12-6-23
	Section 1. Section 12.04.080 of the Chehalis Municipal Code shall be, and the same hereby are amended to read as follows:
	Section 2. Section 12.04.110(A)(2) of the Chehalis Municipal Code shall be, and the same hereby are amended to read as follows:
	12.04.110(A)(2) Select areas are designated for the mandatory installation of frontage improvements with any development or redevelopment project. Other areas identified may apply for deferral of frontage improvements. These specific designations are ...
	Section 3. Section 12.04.110(B)(1) of the Chehalis Municipal Code shall be, and the same hereby are amended to read as follows:
	12.04.110(B)(1) The installation of sidewalk, curb and gutter will be required of all development projects on the following streets:
	a. Cascade Avenue
	b. Chamber of Commerce Way
	c. Interstate Avenue
	d. Louisiana Avenue
	e. Market Boulevard
	f. Mills Avenue
	g. Newaukum Avenue (from Riverside Drive to city limits)
	h. Parkland Drive
	i. Riverside Drive (from Highway 6 to Newaukum Avenue)
	j. State Avenue (from Chamber of Commerce Way to West Street)
	k. 13th St (from Parkland Drive to Market Boulevard)
	l. 20th Street
	m. National Avenue
	n. Kresky Avenue
	o. All WSDOT functionally classified Arterial and Collector Roads
	a. Cascade Avenue
	b. Chamber of Commerce Way
	c. Interstate Avenue
	d. Louisiana Avenue
	e. Market Boulevard
	f. Mills Avenue
	g. Newaukum Avenue (from Riverside Drive to city limits)
	h. Parkland Drive
	i. Riverside Drive (from Highway 6 to Newaukum Avenue)
	j. State Avenue (from Chamber of Commerce Way to West Street)
	k. 13th St (from Parkland Drive to Market Boulevard)
	l. 20th Street
	m. National Avenue
	n. Kresky Avenue
	o. All WSDOT functionally classified Arterial and Collector Roads

	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	ADP5DF7.tmp
	PRESENTATIONS/PROCLAMATIONS
	ADMINISTRATION RECOMMENDATION
	                                           CONSENT CALENDAR
	PAGE
	                                           PUBLIC HEARINGS
	ADMINISTRATION RECOMMENDATION
	PAGE
	CITIZENS BUSINESS (PUBLIC COMMENT)
	ADMINISTRATION RECOMMENDATION
	                                                UNFINISHED BUSINESS
	PAGE
	ADMINISTRATION RECOMMENDATION
	                                                NEW BUSINESS
	PAGE
	ADMINISTRATION RECOMMENDATION
	                                    ADMINISTRATION AND CITY COUNCIL REPORTS  
	PAGE

	Blank Page



